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Wednesday, December 5, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Lynne Anderson.  I will be presiding over the hearing today, and with me are Michael Janigan and Allison Duff, and we are all Board members at the OEB.

We are here today to hear an application by Alectra Utilities Corporation for distribution rates effective January 1st, 2019.  This is under the OEB's file number EB-2018-0016.

The notice of hearing was issued on July 18th and there have been three procedural orders establishing the process for hearing this application.

In Procedural Order No. 3, the OEB established today as the oral hearing for two issues in the proceeding.  The first is the proposed incremental capital module, or ICM, for the York Region Rapid Transit project, and the second is the earnings sharing mechanism, or ESM, for the Horizon rate zone.

Submissions on the issues for which the OEB is not granting cost awards were filed on November 23rd, 2018, and Alectra Utilities' reply was November 30th, 2018.  So the record is closed for these issues.

Submissions on all of the ICMs and the earnings sharing mechanism are due December 17th, 2018, and Alectra Utilities' reply is to be filed by January the 9th, 2019.

Can we please have appearances.
Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear as counsel for Alectra Utilities on this application, and with me from Alectra is Alison Price.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I appear for BOMA in this case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, Shelley Grice, consultant to the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, my name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am consultant to Energy Probe.

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, Lawren Murray, counsel to Board Staff, and with me from Board Staff are Alex Share and Jane Scott.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Thank you.

Good morning, everyone.
Preliminary Matters:


The Panel has one preliminary matter.  There is an outstanding issue from Procedural Order No. 3 on a confidentiality request by Alectra Utilities for redacted information in interrogatory responses G-Staff-2, attachments 1 to 4, and CCC-1, attachment 1.

The OEB has reviewed the redacted information and has determined that it is not relevant to this proceeding.  The OEB will follow up with a decision on this -- sorry, a decision in writing, yes, thank you, Ms. Duff.

So are there any other preliminary matters that we should address at this point?

MR. MURRAY:  Madam Chair, perhaps it would be a good time now to mark a number of items as exhibits, because they will be referred to both in their direct examination and also the first cross-examination that will take place today.

So my understanding is that Alectra has prepared the CVs of the witness panel, and I would ask that that be marked as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CURRICULA VITAE OF THE WITNESS PANEL.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Murray, do we have this?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, members of the Board, there is a preliminary matter, which is for me to apologize that you do not have the physical copies, which we will get at the morning break.

We are just in the process of circulating it now.  The fault is entirely mine.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  The next item I would ask be marked as an exhibit is SEC cross-examination materials, and I ask that be marked as K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. MURRAY:  The third exhibit to be marked is the RRR filings of Alectra from 2017, and I would ask that that be marked as Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  RRR FILINGS OF ALECTRA FROM 2017.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Murray, are those three copies?

MR. MURRAY:  No.  There is one copy of the Alectra 2017 RRR filings.  After that, there should be an eight-page calculation by Staff that is titled "Table 1 earnings in ROE excluding accounting changes".  I would ask that be marked as Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  EIGHT-PAGE CALCULATION BY STAFF ENTITLED "TABLE 1 EARNINGS IN ROE EXCLUDING ACCOUNTING CHANGES".

MR. MURRAY:  Then the last exhibit will be four documents, which will be collectively marked as K1.5, and that is the 2016 RRR filings for Enersource, PowerStream, Hydro One Brampton, and Horizon, and that will be Exhibit
-- those four collectively is Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  2016 RRR FILINGS FOR ENERSOURCE, POWERSTREAM, HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON, AND HORIZON.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I thought we were going to put the AMPCO compendium in as an exhibit, and also the spreadsheet from the company?

MR. MURRAY:  My apologies.  Yes, AMPCO should be K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  AMPCO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. MURRAY:  And spreadsheet from the company, I'm not aware of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This one.

MR. MURRAY:  Table 1.  That will be Exhibit K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  ALECTRA SPREADSHEET.

MS. ANDERSON:  Again, is that something that is being copied, or...

MR. SMITH:  So table -- we have copies of table 1.  Sorry.

MR. MURRAY:  Just for clarity, is this the same one that is already in the reply evidence, just blown up?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  This is a large format of the attachment 1, table 1 that was ordered to be produced as part of the --


MS. ANDERSON:  The allocations?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

[Mr. Smith passes out document.]


MR. MURRAY:  And perhaps since we are just trying to mark a number of the exhibits I know also Energy Probe has circulated a compendium, and we will mark that as Exhibit K1.8.

MR. LADANYI:  I have copies of the compendium.  Would you like that?
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Murray, were you going to do mine also?  Over here.

MR. MURRAY:  Certainly.  Do you have copies of it?

MR. GARNER:  I do have copies.

[Documents distributed.]


MR. MURRAY:  And I believe this will be the last document.  There is also a VECC compendium that we have received, and it will be marked as Exhibit K1.9.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MS. ANDERSON:  Are there any other preliminary matters before we get going?  I think we have sufficient paper now in front of us.

MR. SMITH:  Paperless world.

MS. ANDERSON:  We may be shuffling a bit of paper.  I understand a hearing plan has been circulated to everyone; is that correct?  People have a copy of the hearing plan?

MR. SMITH:  We do.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes?  So based on that hearing plan we do expect to conclude the hearing today.  That is certainly our hope.  But it does have the potential for being quite a long day.  So as always we ask that everyone not duplicate areas covered by others, and if you cover all of the areas of panel questions, then we may not need the extra 15 minutes at the end.  So we will see on that.

Mr. Smith, can you just provide the names of the witnesses so that we can proceed to have them affirmed?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We have -- closest to the panel is Mr. John Bonadie.  To his right is Natalie Yeates.  To her right is Tom Wasik.  To his right is Indy Butany-DeSouza.  To her right is Mr. John Basilio.  And then lastly we have Mr. Martin Sultana.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will proceed to have you affirmed.
ALECTRA UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANEL 1

Martin Sultana,

John Balsilio,

Indy Butany-DeSouza,

Tom Wasik,

Natalie Yeates,

John Bonadie, Affirmed

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Basilio and Mr. Sultana, do you have microphones there?  I can't see.

MR. BASILIO:  I am sharing one with Ms. Butany-DeSouza and perhaps I will just do one of these -- or I could just hop over to the microphone when need be, if that is okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is that something maybe Staff could ask IT whether or not at the break if something could be set up.  Usually there is a microphone.  I didn't see one.  So I want to make sure we will be able to hear you, okay, thank you.

Mr. Smith.  You have an examination-in-chief?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  What I would like to do, members of the Board, is I will just quickly introduce the members of the panel and then I have some questions in examination-in-chief.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  So, Mr. Bonadie, why don't we start with you.  I understand that you are a graduate of York University in economics?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a chartered professional accountant?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are also the director of rates and settlements at Alectra?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have held positions with Alectra or its predecessor, Enersource, since roughly 2005?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Yeates, I understand that you are also a chartered professional accountant.

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  A graduate of the University of Toronto?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You hold the position of director, regulatory affairs and reporting at Alectra?

MS. YEATES:  Yes, I do.

SPEAKER 2:  You have similarly been with Alectra or its predecessor, Enersource, since roughly 2004?

MS. YEATES:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Wasik, you are an engineer, as I understand it.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Electrical engineer?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a graduate of the University of Waterloo, Queen's and Ryerson University?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are currently the vice-president of asset management at Alectra?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Alectra or Enersource since about 2001?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  During that time period, I understand you were also separately employed for a period of time with Hydro One Networks Brampton.

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Miss Butany-DeSouza, you are a graduate of McMaster University?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have an MBA and a bachelor of science from that institution?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are the vice-president, regulatory affairs and privacy officer at Alectra?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Alectra or its predecessor, Horizon, since 2009?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, I have.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Basilio, you are a graduate of the University of Toronto?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You, too, are a chartered accountant?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You have been with Alectra as its executive vice-president and chief financial officer since February 2017?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, you were employed by Horizon?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, Hamilton Utilities?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you obtained your chartered accountant designation in approximately 1992 or '93?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And finally, I don't usually have the witness immediately beside me, but if everyone else is fine with that.

Mr. Sultana, you are a chartered accountant as well?

MR. SULTANA:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  You are a graduate of York?

MR. SULTANA:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  You have been director of taxation at Alectra since 2017?

MR. SULTANA:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, you were with Enersource?

MR. SULTANA:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you began your career in the industry with Toronto-Hydro as a senior tax analyst?

MR. SULTANA:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  That was in about 2006?

MR. SULTANA:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I have some questions in-chief.  Mr. Basilio, why don't we start with you?

I take it you are familiar with Procedural Order No. 3 in this proceeding?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand that procedural order, the Board has deferred the issues of the balance in the Brampton and Enersource deferral accounts and the disposition of those accounts.  You are familiar with that?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  What is -- if you can tell the Board, what is Alectra Utilities' current expectation in relation to those accounts?

MR. BASILIO:  We welcome the decision to effectively consider the widest range of options for these deferral accounts, and will obviously comply.

It is apparent that Alectra has many concerns with what is being proposed regarding -- in regard to accounting policy conformance and, more specifically, capitalization policy in the context of a merger transaction and rebasing deferral.

As directed, we will come forward with our own ideas, one of which will be to rescind the accounts on the basis of MAADs policy, which was freshly minted at the time of the Alectra merger and incon -- what we view as inconsistency with our MAADs decision.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, let me just stop you there.  Why do you say that?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, under our MAADs decision, we were clearly given a 10-year rebasing deferral period with respect to the merger, and an ESM deemed appropriate to the Board Panel at that time to deal with the notion of windfall merger earnings.

While the MAADs application is not a rate application per se, the case of Alectra explored, in considerable depth, rate making policy through the rebasing deferral period.

The approach resolved in its previous rate application 2017-0024, along with approaches advanced by some in this application, are tantamount to a micro rebasing of an isolated issue that in fact has no economic basis in the context of rebasing deferral, a period where base rates are not adjusted in the deferral period other than as permitted by policy, namely IRM, ICM, or ESM, for excess earnings.

In our view, there should not be any adjustments in regard to accounting policy conformances arising from a merger within a rebasing deferral period.  These are more typically and almost always resolved in rebasing applications and for good reason.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, why do you say that?  Why do you say they should be resolved at that time?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the accounting policy change in question was required, no choice for Alectra, under IFRS. And under IFRS, that is solely for associated external reporting purposes.

The Energy Board, of course, in its -- has discretion whether to accept these changes for MIFRS and ratemaking purposes and, in our case, with consideration for MAADs policy in the context of rebasing deferral.

On this basis, we submitted our 2017 application, again 2017-0024, on the basis that Alectra would not change its capitalization policy for MIFRS purposes, MIFRS reporting purposes, and we viewed this approach appropriate on two principle and principled bases.

The first was consistency with the basis on which base rates were set for each of the predecessors at the time of the merger.

The second is consistency with the basis on which the Horizon utilities settlement agreement and, more particularly the ESM, the earnings sharing mechanism, and the CIVA, the capital -- help me, Ms. Butany-DeSouza?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Capital investment variance account.

MR. BASILIO:  The capital investment variance account -- there are so many acronyms in this sector -- were negotiated and approved.

MR. SMITH:  I should pause you there.  You made a good point.  I know the Board's preference is to not use acronyms to the extent possible, and I know it is of assistance to the reporter.  So if we're into an acronym, let's try not to use it as best we can.

MR. BASILIO:  I will do my best.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, of course.  Earnings sharing mechanism, if I didn't specify that earlier.

The OEB's decision in EB-2017-0024 implies that the Alectra capitalization policy conformance required under IFRS should be adopted for MIFRS purposes for ratemaking within the rebasing deferral period.

That is, base rates are effectively changed, irrespective of the notion of a deferral account mechanism.

The mechanics and use of the deferral accounts resolved by the OEB in the 2017 decision are tantamount to the rebasing of an isolated issue within the rebasing deferral period and create a customer benefit, in our view, without economic basis.

We see that as inconsistent with the Board's MAADs policy, which in no insignificant part seeks to reduce the risk of a MAADs transaction.

We also see it inconsistent with the decision of the Board in Alectra's MAADs application, EB-2016-0025, which granted a ten-year rebasing deferral period.

Furthermore, the MAADs policy includes an earnings sharing mechanism to address concerns, intervenor and Board concerns, regarding shareholder windfalls in relation to excess earnings.  In Alectra's MAADs proceeding there was discovery and testimony in relation to accounting policy conformance, with Alectra, in fact me, clearly responding in that proceeding on cross that no deferral accounts were required on the issue, and Ms. Butany going on to suggest that any resolution of such is appropriately placed in a rebasing application.

Both Board Staff and the Board panel presiding in the MAADs proceeding would have given this evidence thoughtful consideration, and there were no special conditions thereon imposed in the MAADs decision.  The Board panel in the MAADs decision resolved the ESM appropriate for its intended purpose, to deal with windfall matters regarding earnings.

Alectra's shareholders relied on the MAADs decision as predictable basis for approving the merger, which was conditional on an acceptable MAADs decision by the Board.

Significant special conditions material to the Alectra merger business case have since been imposed post facto in EB-2007-0024, affecting the basis on which the Alectra merger was approved in relation to both capitalization policy and ICM, and on the latter point, no special conditions were imposed in the MAADs decision on ICM policy either, based on detailed testimony and discovery on Alectra's approach to ICM in its business case, and we continue to take exception to the onerous ICM materiality thresholds imposed in 2017-0024 that simply serve to create a material infrastructure deficit for Alectra customers over the rebasing deferral period.

ICM was clearly presented as material to the Alectra business case, and that material was offered in MAADs' evidence and explored in depth, and we may explore this matter further in our 2020 application to be filed in 2019.

Frankly, had shareholders been aware of the outcome of the last ICM and rate application in relation to capitalization policy at the time of their decision to merge, I think it reasonably unlikely that the merger would have proceeded, which would have been very unfortunate, in terms of delivering long-term meaningful customer savings to the tune of 50-and-a-half-million dollars annually, which was presented in our business case.

In the context of a rebasing deferral period and change in capitalization policy, the reality is that existing cash generated from base rates at the time of the merger is required to fund all distribution activities in rate base at that time, irrespective of their specific nature or accounting classification as operating or capital.  The cash requirements to fund these activities do not change, and fundamentally Alectra should have reasonably expected that the notion of rebasing deferral does not permit any rebasing in the deferral period.

In Alectra's case the reallocation between operating expense and capital in the context of rebasing deferral is non-cash.  The decision to effectively reduce Alectra revenue through the use of deferral accounts is a result of a non-discretionary IFRS capitalization change, reduces the support of funding for these activities annually over a ten-year period, and thus creates a significant cash impairment for Alectra from what is a non-cash issue.

Somewhat ironically, the implied customer benefit from the deferral account approach taken simply reduces the amount of cash to fund distribution activities supporting the same customer group, creating a distribution system impairment, a ten-year cumulative impairment.

It follows, in our view, that there is no economic rationale to settle accounting policy conformance differences through deferral accounts during the rebasing deferral period, since this simply reduces previously approved financing available to support planned distribution activities for our customers.

Consider further that Alectra cannot rebase, rebalance revenue for other isolated ensuing changes during the rebasing deferral period, such as -- and these things have happened or are happening:  loss of revenue from changes or pending changes in customer service rules, differences in customer connections growth as compared to those reflected in our underlying rates, customer reclassification issues, largely related to CDM activities, and other implications to rate revenue or costs from externalities.

Isolating any single issue for rebasing without considering the overall impact on distribution revenue from other externalities and OEB policy changes or government changes during a rebasing deferral period is, in Alectra's view, unbalanced.

As such, we submit that rate-making impacts from accounting policy changes are best considered in the broadest context of rate-making policy at the time of a full rebasing application, with appropriate rebalancing of revenue, with consideration of all components of rate base, and review of the impacts of other externalities and OEB policy changes in the deferral period.

MR. SMITH:  So we began -- those are issues by and large, obviously, Mr. Basilio, that is going to be relevant next year, but I want to bring it back to today.

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  -- to today.  And the issue I want to address today, because we're going to be talking about the Horizon earnings sharing mechanism, and how do you see the connection between what you have just talked about and the Horizon earnings sharing mechanism?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the reality now for this application, given the procedural order, is that you cannot reasonably finance the Horizon rate zone --


MR. SMITH:  Finance it?

MR. BASILIO:  Finalize, sorry.  You cannot reasonably finalize the Horizon rate zone earnings sharing mechanism, at least with respect to the extent that it is impacted by the capitalization policy outcome --


MR. SMITH:  Why do you say --


MR. BASILIO:  -- the deferral account outcome, until you have addressed the issue for both the Enersource rate zone and the Brampton rate zone, which aren't going to be resolved based on the procedural order until the next application.

MR. SMITH:  So what is the path forward from Alectra's perspective?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, our first position --


MR. SMITH:  For this proceeding?

MR. BASILIO:  Our first position, not surprisingly, is that the Horizon earnings sharing mechanism should be based on the MIFRS capitalization policy underlying its settlement agreement, as this underlies its base rates.

However, as I previously outlined, this will be advanced as argument in the Alectra 2020 application, consistent with the Board's direction in PO 3.

At this time we think that the Board can and should review the allocation methodology we have proposed.  We also think the Board can and should review the calculation we have put forward for the capitalization impact on the Horizon rate zone, since this was done based on the Board's guidance in EB-2017-0024.

For both of these reasons the Board should not dispose of the earnings sharing mechanism amount in this application, but rather keep that amount in an account for subsequent disposition, if any, following next year's application.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Ms. Butany-DeSouza, I have a question for you in relation to the YRRT project.

Can you just tell the Board precisely what relief Alectra is seeking in this application?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sure.  The relief sought for the YRRT and frankly for the capital projects that we have advanced for ICM funding for the PowerStream rate zone are identified in the pre-filed evidence at table 112, Exhibit 2, tab 3, Schedule 10, and the requested relief hasn't changed.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, members of the Board.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  I think on our hearing plan, next up is Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, before I start, is the proposal to defer disposition of the ESM, is that in the evidence somewhere?  Or are we hearing it for the first time this morning?

MR. SMITH:  No, you are hearing it as a result of the Board's decision as reflected in the procedural order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are we hearing it for the first time this morning, yes or no?

MR. SMITH:  You are, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I prepared to cross under a completely different basis.  Why are we hearing this now?  Was this decided this morning?

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, was what decided?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The decision of the proponent, the applicant, to change what they're asking for.  Was that decided this morning?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, as you will know, and as we attempted to highlight, there is an issue, from our perspective -- people may have a different view -- but there is an issue from our perspective with respect to the procedural order, in that it addresses the Brampton and Enersource capital policy variance accounts in 2020.

We looked at that and thought, obviously, that if you are going to be addressing capitalization policy and the impact in 2020, and there is an issue as I understand intervenors' submissions with respect to the impact of the capitalization policy on the Horizon earnings sharing mechanism, then you are put in a position where you would be deciding fundamentally the same issue, i.e., the impact of the capitalization policy, both this year and next.

It struck us, in looking at that -- and obviously this isn't reflected in the prefiled evidence because this all happened afterwards -- that the best course is the one we've proposed, which is to leave the amount in an account for the Horizon variance account, and to propose that that be disposed of at the same time the Board reaches its decision after a full review of all of the options, which is what the Board has asked for in Procedural Order No. 3.

Now, it struck me that that is a matter of argument, but I did want to raise it today through examination-in-chief so that people have fair warning, because we don't have an argument-in-chief in the procedural order.  We have a reply.

So you are hearing what is argument some, whatever we are now, 11 days before your argument is due.  I think that is more than sufficient warning of the position we would be otherwise advancing in reply.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this is not argument.  This is a change in the requested approvals.  It is not more complicated than that.

I might well, my client might well agree with what they're currently proposing.  It may not be a bad idea.  But the procedural order is dated November 8th.  There is no reason why we had to waste days looking at this issue and how capitalization policy interacts with the earnings sharing, if we had known about this in advance.

We should have known about this in advance.  If they wanted to change their approval, they should have said so.  The Board should not hear it right before cross.  That is just gamesmanship.

MR. SMITH:  I must be missing something, because I don't see the facts that are different.

I mean, if my friend wants to put, as I understood it, questions about the allocation between the various rate zones that arrive at the utility earnings for Horizon rate zone, that is what we're here to talk about.

If my friend has questions about how Horizon's -- Horizon has implemented the capitalization policy directed by the Board in 0024, my friend will have heard Mr. Basilio say that we want that to be addressed as well, because we tried to follow the Board's guidance in 0024 and that is an open area that we would like to have addressed.  And my friend may well have questions on that.

So I am not sure what facts are changing that drive my friend's cross-examination, which is fact-driven.  So that is the part I am having some trouble with.

MS. ANDERSON:  Does any other party or OEB Staff have any --


MR. LADANYI:  I have a comment, Madam Chair.  I believe the appropriate procedural way to handle this is the applicant should file a motion and then we should all speak to the motion.  The proceeding has now started.  The oral hearing has started, and they cannot change their evidence without a motion.

And then, it might take a little bit of time but that would be the appropriate way.  I have never -- I have been in many proceedings.  I have never seen anything like this.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Madam Chair.  I believe that the -- I hear the distinction that Mr. Crawford is making, or trying to make between argument and evidence, but this document -- this material was very extensive and it got back into dealing with challenging an earlier Board decision.

We should have had this before and had an opportunity to ask questions on it.

So as far as how you deal with it as a practical matter, it seems to me we should have at least some time to review it and come back and ask further questions.

I mean, there was a lot of information there and it was fairly complicated.  And he was making all sorts of claims, Mr. Basilio was making all sort of claims about why this should be dealt with in rebasing and referring to presumably to precedents that would support his position that a change in capitalization policy is equivalent for a rebasing, et cetera, et cetera.

A lot of that stuff is -- you know, is the Board supposed to take that on faith?  I am not quite sure -- I guess the other point is I am not quite sure what -- if there was no intent to -- if there is no significance to it in this particular proceeding, then why put it up now?

And finally, even if there is, even if the notion is that you know, this is part argument and we can reply to it because he is giving it to us, it is a lot more than that.  It has got a lot of different background material in there, which would be clarified by us having the opportunity -- and I think we should have the opportunity to read it and study it and come back to it with some questions, if we have them.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I think what would make sense, certainly from our perspective, is maybe a short break for the intervenors to caucus, to sort of take this information in and decide if we want to make any further submissions on it.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  Well, first of all, like my friend Mr. Shepherd, I am quite perplexed.  I was a bit concerned, I had put my compendium in 8 hours instead of 12, and instead what I hear what Mr. Smith is saying, however, he is asking us to argue now against a different proposal than the one we were preparing to argue for.  I guess I am thankful for the fact I am not putting forward an argument and then seeing in reply a whole different proposal.

So like Ms. Girvan, I think probably the first practical step is maybe perhaps let the parties caucus for a moment or two and, with and without the applicant, to digest what has just happened, because I am left a bit in a quandary as to what to do.

Like Mr. Shepherd, it may be that my client thinks the proposal is good; I don't know.  I have just heard it so...

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I should let Mr. Murray go, and I apologize, but I do want to reply briefly.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I think the idea of having a caucus and a short break for people to speak about this would be a good idea, I think.  Obviously it is something that wasn't heard before today, and to the extent people want to discuss it amongst -- the intervenors want to discuss it amongst themselves, I think that would be helpful and may be more productive for the rest of the day.

MR. SMITH:  If I can just reply briefly because -- well, I hope it is of assistance to my friends in the caucus, assuming that is granted by the Board.

There are, there appears to be a misapprehension and perhaps I can just pick up from my friend Mr. Brett's comments.

The examination-in-chief is largely, with the exception of the final portion, just simply to provide Alectra's perspective and where it anticipates going in 2020.  That can't be of anything but assistance to my friends in a subsequent proceeding.

But it doesn't affect, in any way, shape or form, today, because those issues are not today issues, nor argument today.

The only thing, when you cut through everything that has been said, the only difference between what Alectra has asked for in this proceeding and what it is saying now in light of the procedural order is, do not dispose of the account at this time.  Hold it until 2020 when the Board makes its decision on the ERZ and BRZ deferral accounts.  That's it, period full stop.

The allocation is one we think the Board can and should review.  The approach Alectra took in following the Board's guidance in 0024 is exactly the same.

So the only decision point, the only thing that is different, and it comes out of Procedural Order No. 3, is do you dispose of the accounts in this proceeding?  Or do you dispose of the accounts following 2020?  That is it.  Everything else, if my friends have misunderstood what we are saying, I cannot say it clearer than that.  It is not a question of a motion.  It is not a question of additional facts.  It is simply a product of the procedural order.  I hope that is of assistance.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will take a 15-minute break and come back to discuss this further.
--- Recess taken at 10:20 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:50 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Okay.  Have parties had a chance to confer?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We've discussed the efficiency of asking questions about the ESM in this proceeding, and I think that all parties agree that it would be better if we deal with all of the ESM; that is, not just the interaction of ESM with the accounting change, but also the allocations and everything else next year, when the accounting change principles will be dealt with.

Without the accounting change, there is no ESM.  It's a long way from being in the black.  And so it would seem to be a waste of time if we're not going to dispose of the account this year, and all parties have agreed that, subject obviously to the Board's acceptance, that it is more efficient to deal with it next year.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Crawford -- or Mr. Smith?

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  No problem.  Obviously, you heard our proposal.  I agree with Mr. Shepherd.  We have had a chance to speak to the intervenors and with Board Staff as well.

Our proposal had been to deal with the question of the allocation now, but there is efficiency in what Mr. Shepherd is proposing, and if it is acceptable to the Board it is acceptable to us.

I should make one note simply for the record that I am sure my friend agrees with, because I have raised it with him, but I want it to be clear for the record.  Next year, assuming it is acceptable to the Board, when we're dealing with the 2017 and 2018 earnings sharing mechanisms, we will be dealing with two earnings sharing mechanisms.  So you will be considering them separately because they are conceptually separately.  You are not dealing with one earnings sharing mechanism covering the period '17 and '18.  It is two separate years, two separate allocations --


MS. ANDERSON:  Two separate years of earnings sharing.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, great.  So I guess the question from the Panel is, are -- we have two days set aside for this oral hearing.  Would parties and -- the applicant and parties be prepared to enter into a settlement agreement to this effect with the time that we have -- we should have for the remaining part of today, with the hope that it would be presented to us tomorrow morning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We could.  I don't think it would take long to write.  If you would like it to be in writing as an addendum to the agreement, I am happy to do that if Mr. Smith is.

MR. SMITH:  Let me -- I don't have any instructions, but let me offer this.  I agree with Mr. Shepherd, in that I don't think it would take very long, and I don't think it would be the best use of the Board's time for us to stand down and appear tomorrow, if people are prepared to proceed on the YRRT.

When I looked at the cross-examinations and compendium, there are questions on the YRRT, but there were also many and perhaps more on the Horizon issues.

So I think we are probably in a position -- even given the time -- to proceed efficiently on the YRRT matter and certainly complete that.

And if we could then at the end of the day put our heads together, and if an attendance were necessary we could reattend and I could speak to it and Mr. Shepherd could speak to it tomorrow morning, if that would be acceptable, or we could file it.  That is how I would suggest we proceed.

MS. ANDERSON:  It certainly was our intention to proceed with the YRRT.  I didn't make that clear.  So that was the plan, to proceed with that, and then with the remaining time today, whether or not there could be an agreement of parties.

I was trying to do the count of whether all the registered intervenors were represented here, and I can't think of anyone that is missing, but we should just double-check that to make sure that there isn't anyone --


MR. SMITH:  I believe you are right, but we will double-check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we probably won't write it in the room in any case.  We will probably go back to our offices and circulate it, but with e-mail we can have it done today, I'm pretty sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So right now our intention would be to come back tomorrow morning and have it presented, but we will confer, depending on how long the YRRT takes, because I think that was the shorter of the cross, but to see whether or not that's necessary, but it would be something in writing then from the parties by the end of today is what you would --


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I am sure that is feasible, and if it would be of assistance to the Board to reduce it to writing, then we will do that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, yes.  It was a written settlement that we were looking for that provided the rationale for deferral.

Okay.  Thank you.  With that, I believe we are prepared to now proceed with cross on the YRRT.

Does nobody else pronounce it "yurt"?  Like, it is just so tempting to do that.

[Laughter]

MS. ANDERSON:  And everyone kept correcting me every time I did, so I think we will keep calling it the YRRT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are not allowed to use acronyms, though, so maybe we should call it "yurt".

MS. ANDERSON:  But you will notice in my opening remarks I specifically defined an ICM and an ESM, so -- because I know we are going to revert to that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Your examination-in-chief on the YRRT is complete?

MR. SMITH:  Done.

MS. ANDERSON:  So -- yeah.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So, hi, I am Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

Let's start just briefly -- we have all read your evidence and everything, but perhaps you could give us the short summary of the YRRT project.  You have a Y2 component and an H2 component.

Can you just sort of in -- will you give us the elevator pitch on what that project is?

MR. WASIK:  So as we present it in the business case, the YRRT is a major transportation initiative in the Vaughan and Richmond Hill areas that is implementing a bus rapid transit route through the major arteries through the transportation sections on Highway 7 and Yonge Street.

In order to facilitate that we, Alectra, is required to relocate a significant amount of our distribution equipment so that the infrastructure for that particular rapid way is put in place.

The way that the project is operated is that it is governed by the YRRTC, which is a governing entity that is overseeing the entire particular project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What does that stand for?

MR. WASIK:  York Region Rapid Transit Corporation.  And so that entity is the one that is overseeing the entire initiative, coordinating the specific contractors necessary and utilities necessary to complete this major initiative.

It is a multi-year project that started in 2015, and from a planning standpoint, and continues on, with the focus on finishing in 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that much of it involves, for example, special laneways for the buses and stations in the middle of Highway 7, for example, that sort of thing?  It is a significant change to how the buses operate, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it only on Yonge Street and Highway 7?

MR. WASIK:  No.  So as we presented in a map -- I would bring to your attention our response to BOMA 19 -- you can see that the entire initiative is much larger than just the Y2 and H2 sections of the YRRT project.  But the ones that are specific to our application pertain to the YRRT for the Y2 and H2 portions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at page 20 of our materials -- that is Exhibit K1.2 -- the Y2 project affects 11 feeders, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the Yonge Street component; is that right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the H2 component has 23 feeders that are being relocated, and H2 is the Highway 7 component, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then there is other components that will come later.  So we are not done yet, right?

MR. WASIK:  Specifically for the Y2 and H2, the YRRT project that is part of this application, these are the only feeders that are applicable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But from the Board's perspective and the ratepayers perspective, too, there is more to come.  There are going to be similar -- there's going to be similar spending for years to come as the rapid transit system in York Region is upgraded, right?

MR. WASIK:  So at this point right now, the projects that we have in front of us, Mr. Shepherd, pertain to the Y2 and H2, and the information that we have and the specifics and the scope pertain to these particular projects.

So until such time as York Region advises us that there's other projects pertaining to the YRRT, we will have to endeavour to undertake that separately, under a separate project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I guess what I am getting at is perspective.  You already know that they're not going to stop at Yonge Street and Highway 7, right?  They've told you that?

MR. WASIK:  We don't know at this point right now what the future plans are going to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then what's the relationship between Alectra and -- sorry.  Let me back up a stage.

York Region Rapid Transit is like the equivalent of the TTC, but for York Region; is that right?

MR. WASIK:  I don't know how the arrangement with TTC is set up.  They're not in Alectra's jurisdiction.

I can explain to you how the York Region has set up the YRRTC corporation, and that is to deal with this particular project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that entity is a creature of the municipalities, right?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.  It is a wholly  owned subsidiary of the regional municipality of York.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how do you interact with that organization?  When I say how do you interact, what I mean is do you have sort of a cooperative, like a steering committee or something, that you work together?

Is it more authoritative; they call you up and say, hey, we want you to do this?  Or is it more a negotiation?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. WASIK:  So the YRRTC is the road authority, so they govern the project, and we are a party of multiple entities that are required to participate in the relocation efforts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I knew that.  What I am trying to get at is that sometimes a road authority is simply directive -- you know, next week we want you to be there, and the week after that we want you to be there.  Don't argue with us, we're the road authority, as opposed to the other extreme where you have -- and this is true in a number of municipalities -- where all of the affected parties, including the road authority, sit down and work out a combined plan for how they're going to deal with the various projects.

Where on that spectrum are you with this one?

MR. WASIK:  So once again, the YRRTC is the overall governing entity.  They set the schedule and they set the agenda, in terms of what work needs to be done.  We have an opportunity to provide input, like all of the other utilities, and advise them of some of the challenges or perhaps some of the options that may be possible.

But we are very aligned and understand that they're the ones that are ultimately driving the particular project, and it is their decisions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You almost said driving the bus, right?

[Laughter]

MR. WASIK:  Driving the bus, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask that is because, if you take a look at Staff-60, you see -- and I think you describe it in some detail there -- YRRTC have made a lot of changes to this project over the first few years.  They have changed what their schedule is.  They changed what you want to do.  There have been barriers that you didn't expect that they didn't tell you about, and suddenly there it is.  That's true, right?  It's been a challenge?

MR. WASIK:  There have been several challenges, Mr. Shepherd, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And each time they make a change, is there a negotiation of some sort?

MR. WASIK:  I wouldn't classify it as a negotiation.  But I would say that there is an opportunity for input and discussion as we try to find the most effective solution for all parties involved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you say -- for example, if you take a look at page 17 of our materials, they have changed the order of construction -- I am starting at line 20.  They have changed the order of construction, they have modified the implementation sequencing.  And you go on to talk about, you know, all of the changes they required you to make.

They asked you, for example, to go under roadways when you normally wouldn't normally have done so, right?

MR. WASIK:  The question is?  I'm sorry, can I maybe ask if you can rephrase the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I am trying to understand is -- and maybe I should just cut to the chase -- you've got cost overruns here of seven million already, and presumably you've still got another year to go and most of the big stuff to do, so easily it could be more cost overruns, right?

MR. WASIK:  We feel the forecast we put forward as of August 31st is an accurate reflection of where the project is going to conclude.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what you thought last year, too, right, and you had a different forecast?

MR. WASIK:  Again, last year's forecast included in-service amounts.

So there has been some changes to the work, but majority of the work has been now -- is well understood and is complete, and we feel confident that the forecast that we put forward is the final.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are 25 percent over budget already and you weren't last year, right?

MR. WASIK:  Subject to change, I believe we're 22 percent over budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. WASIK:  But when you undertake a significant multi-year project such as this, that is very extensive and -- I think it might be also helpful to explain what a configuration of a design-build project is, because I think that might be helpful for the panel to understand how that is different than what our typical approach for road widening is.

Maybe if I could explain that to you, you can  understand in the context of why the changes in terms of the forecast and changes that we explained as to what took place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are welcome to do that, but I am not actually going in that direction.  But if you want to give that explanation, I don't mind.

MR. WASIK:  I think it might be helpful.  So as we tried to explain in our response, the YRRT Y2 and H2 project are undertaken under a design-build arrangement. What that means is that construction is happening as design is taking place.

Now, the great benefit of that is that it provides a lot of flexibility in the construction.  You can change your approach as you move through the particular initiative.  So if you run into a barrier, you just go through and revise your approach and you can, you know, work around it in a different process.

The complication for Alectra in those particular situations is that's typically not how we work.  We like to lay out our plan properly.  We like to do our studies, all of our assessments, all of our underground evaluations, and then begin the particular work.

So what happens is that when you work with multiple utilities and under the direction of the road authority, we work to try to make sure that the solutions we bring forward when we run into these barriers are the most cost-effective, and can move the project along on a very aggressive timeline.

So when we put together our forecasts, they're the best information at the time that we knew.  But because of the design-build arrangement, we have run into situations where we've had to adjust, as per the direction from the YRRTC, in terms of how they want to approach some of these unknowns, especially when you are dealing with underground systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a little bit of a clash of cultures, right, because your sequencing of activities and theirs are different?

MR. WASIK:  I wouldn't say it was a clash of cultures, as I would say that we're not typically involved in multi-year design-build projects of this magnitude and it requires -- it required us to be a party, along with many other utilities, to try to find the most effective and cost efficient solution.

Unfortunately, when there is redesigns and different sequencing of work, we're trying to move along the project to deliver it in the best way that we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Last year you -- the last year you said this is going to cost 30.8 million in total, and you were pretty sure that that was the right estimate.

Now you are saying it is going to cost $37.8 million, and you are pretty sure that is the right estimate.

Why would the Board think that when it is all said and done, this time you are going to be right and last time -- when last time you weren't?

MR. WASIK:  So the forecast that we presented in our previous application, EB-2017-0024, was the best information we had at the time that we filed, which was in early 2017.

As you can see from our work in our schedule, a lot of work has been done in 2017 and 2018, and so as a result when we revised our forecast at the end of August of 2018, we knew a lot more detailed information and feel very confident that the forecast that we have in front of us now, as we move towards the end stage of the project, is much more reflective of where we think the final costs are going to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Except that you are going to spend 60 percent of the money next year, right?

MR. WASIK:  No.  Mr. Shepherd, that is not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that is in-service; you're right.

MR. WASIK:  We are putting 60 percent of it in-service.  And I think it might be helpful, Mr. Shepherd, if I can explain a little bit about the fact that you raised that we have 33 feeders involved.

It took multiple years to arrange for isolation and outages on feeders while we do our work.  So we have to significantly reconfigure our service supply to all of the customers in those areas during the time where we're relocating 33 feeders.

And so as a result we had to take careful steps to make sure that we didn't disrupt the reliability and the service to those existing customers during those multi-year construction periods.

When we start moving towards this point of the project where we're trying to put things back into normal operating conditions, the sequencing of bringing those 33 feeders back and unwinding the temporary arrangements that we had to put in place to accommodate this does take time, and that is why you're seeing a considerable amount of work being closed out as we finish out the particular project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just stop you.  So it is not that the main body of the relocation hasn't been done.  It is that even when you've relocated the lines and most of the work has been done, you still have to close it out and make the new lines live and get rid of the temporary stuff.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  So if you were to look at -- and I believe we submitted that to a response to BOMA -- is that we've got quite a lot of activities between now and when this project finishes where we have to sequence those particular feeders to be placed back into the final arrangement, and then once we do that, that's when we can close out the particular -- that phase of that particular project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You thought that your gross capital additions next year would be a lot less than it turns out they are.  This was because of delays in 2017 and 2018.  I am on page 16 of our materials, which is still part of Staff 60.

Last year, when you talked to the Board, you said, "Well, we're going to put 10.5 million in-service in 2019."  Now it is 47.2.  That is a big change.

Is that solely because of delays caused by YRRTC?  Or mostly?

MR. WASIK:  So there are elements where the delays have impacted which particular portions of the project we can place in-service.  But one of the other significant contributors to the delays is the fact that we had to change the order of work.

So as a result we were able to do a good portion of a specific segment, but couldn't finish it because of other property holdouts or other constraint issues where they had to fix the -- move the water mains or perhaps another utility had to finish their work.  So we had to demobilize the crews to work in other spots.

So while we prepared to finish out the work, we have to now go back to those areas and finish out those segments.  So it is -- you know, there are delays because of redesigns and changes, but there also is the fact that we changed the order of when the work needs to be done, and that is also driving some of the reasons why we weren't able to get the pieces in-service when we initially forecast them to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like what you are saying is that, yes, we had delays and we had barriers we had to overcome, but most of that is behind us now.  We're sort of in the home stretch and we know where we're going with this.  Is that fair?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  We need to finish out this project and put the service back into the permanent final state in order to meet the YRRTC's time lines and comply with the project scopes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've been on Highway 7 and Yonge Street in this area recently?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's still a lot of work to do, right?  They're not close to being finished.  There is wires all over the place.

MR. WASIK:  So with respect to our work, our work is close to finished.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah?

MR. WASIK:  We have to move our assets out of the way in order for them to build their particular process.

So we are one party of multiple parties working on this particular project, and that was actually one of the issues that we were having, is that we can't have multiple construction crews working on the same site.  We have to do things in a sequential manner, and that our part of the process is we need to move out of the way so that the next set of crews can go in and do their particular work --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. WASIK:  -- and that is the sequencing that we were talking about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you had some joint -- joint -- what's the term, where the utilities work together?

MR. WASIK:  Joint trench.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. WASIK:  Joint trench?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, joint trenching.  And you in fact did some of this work cooperatively with the other utilities, right?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which also adds time and cost.

MR. WASIK:  So I would propose, Mr. Shepherd, that it actually is more efficient to share joint trenching.

So the challenge around that is that we have to synchronize our schedules in order to facilitate that, but there is a benefit of doing this collectively as with multiple utilities as we share the trench, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, that is why you do it, right?

MR. WASIK:  That's -- so unfortunately, the consequence of that is that we have to adjust our schedule, but it is at the discretion of the YRRTC, and we feel that it is in the best benefit to our ratepayers to minimize the costs of the project and share where we possibly can with other utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is what I am trying to understand.  In the end your customers are going to have to pay for the stuff that you do, and my question is, how -- what steps have you taken to protect your customers, the costs to your customers, of this activity?

I understand that the people of York Region will benefit from a new transit system.  But in the end, you still have to protect your customers.  How do you do that?

MR. WASIK:  So we are guided by the Public Service Works on the Highway Act in terms of the road authority projects.  In our response to a question from BOMA 6, we explained that in a typical road-widening project where we share the cost of labour, the typical contribution for our road-widening project is somewhere between 30 and 40 percent.

So what we have done here is, where we are working with the YRRTC and we feel that some requests made of us are incremental, we have sought and have been able to get agreement with them to pay a larger proportion of the capital contributions.

So what we are proposing, and we provided that response in PRZ-Staff-60, is that relative to the entire project costs, which is about $80.7 million -- the road authority is contributing just under $43 million.  So that is about 52 percent.

So we sought to attain additional contributions from the road authority to ensure that quality and fairness was attained with respect to the work at hand for this particular project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was a negotiation, in effect?

MR. WASIK:  That was, yes.  We would on a case-by-case basis go through, where the requests were being made, and seek to attain the incremental costs from the road authority, and that is how we ensured that we looked after the interests of our ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you just sort of wake up one day and say, hey, they're asking for a lot of changes.  We'd better get some more money from them?  Or was there, in the road authority's approach to this, some sort of protocol for how you would get additional compensation for change orders?

MR. WASIK:  So there is a -- we are guided by the Public Service Works on the Highway Act -- I'm not trying to use acronyms -- but we're guided by the act, and it advises us.  We also have ongoing experience working with all of the various different regions in Alectra with respect to road-widening projects.

So we use that as guidance, in terms of appropriating the costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I was sort of asking, when they set up this project -- and for them it is a several-hundred million-dollar project, right?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When they set up this project, they set a number of rules for all of the people involved in it, their contractors, the utilities affected, everybody, they set up a bunch of project rules, right?

MR. WASIK:  I would not agree with that.  I would say that the road authority is governed under the Public Service Works on Highways Act, and they treat the utilities fairly and equally by those -- by that particular act.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason you've got additional contributions is -- well, partly because you asked for them, but partly because you were entitled to them under the act?

MR. WASIK:  We felt and we attained agreement working together with the YRRTC, that the appropriate apportionment of costs, in some situations where incremental effort was required, should be borne more by the YRRTC than the utility.

So it is done on a case-by-case basis as the requests come forward, and we feel we have a compelling case to bring to them for their consideration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just have a couple of more questions.  On pages 19 and 20 of our materials, the last two pages of Staff-60, you talk about installation of infrastructure under roadways, and you comment that it will lead to higher future costs.

I guess I am wondering sort of why do it, if it is going to be a problem in the future.

MR. WASIK:  So in some situations -- and as you mentioned, Mr. Shepherd, you've been on Highway 7 and Yonge Street -- there are situations where it is very, very congested and there's no other options possible.

So under those very challenging situations, the only option is to install our infrastructure under the roadway.

Now, we do that as a last resort, and there is no other options available because of this particular reason that it is very challenging afterwards should we have an issue, because you have to dig up the road to gain access to fix the particular problem.

So this just explains -- we were trying to reflect how challenging some of these situations are, where you are taking an existing roadway which is already one of the major transportation arteries to the city and you are widening it, and there is just no space left over because you can't put your infrastructure anywhere.

So what we're trying to reflect is that, you know, before we present that particular issue, we are required to study and examine what other options are possible.  Unfortunately, in those situations, it was a last resort.  It was the only option that was possible to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You, in fact, in a number of places, have had to put wires underground five metres instead of your typical one or two metres?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So as we explained in our response to PRZ-Staff 60 is that in some situations, the area was so congested that we actually had to install our infrastructure at much deeper depth than typical, in order for us to be able to find space to put our infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you are undergrounding in difficult-to-access spots, like under a roadway or very deep, there are ways that you can do that installation so that in the future it is easier to access if there is a problem, rather than just digging everything up, right?

MR. WASIK:  We try our best to install the infrastructure so that the overall costs through the life of the asset is minimized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then my last question about this is in total, you are putting 3.4 kilometres underground, right?

MR. WASIK:  No, I would not agree to that statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. WASIK:  The response to that question is, relative to the existing design, how much infrastructure was placed underground that was initially overhead?  We are putting just under 3.4 kilometres of the infrastructure underground which was initially overhead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's costing, like, about $11 million a kilometre.  And that's...

MR. WASIK:  Can you help me, Mr. Shepherd, with where that is?

MR. SHEPHERD:  $37.7 million for the project, and 3.4 kilometres is going underground.  So that is $11 million per kilometre, isn't it?

MR. WASIK:  No.  So that portion of costs isn't the only cost that has driven the increase.  It contributed to it, but it is not the full cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  Help me with that.

MR. WASIK:  So there's multiple contributors to the $6.9 million increase in the project, and undergrounding a specific portion of the system that was initially considered in our forecast to be overhead contributed to that.  But it is not the only and all factor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the essence of the project is you had to put a bunch of stuff underground, right?

MR. WASIK:  No.  The essence of the project was to move our assets out of the way, in order to facilitate the installation of the transportation infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh ...

MR. WASIK:  In this particular situation, what happened, Mr. Shepherd, was that we ran into congestion issues specifically on the Y2 project.  I will give you an example.

A condominium development was being built with a zero lot line, which means that their property went all the way up to the roadways and they would not -- we could not safely install pole lines with such a close vicinity to the building.

So we were able to find agreement with the condo developer to pay to underground that particular portion of the system.  So that is reflected here.

What we also recognized in the other segments is that we had a main water main that wasn't able to be relocated, because it is considered to be a transmission water main.

So as a result of that, we weren't able to install poles.

And so you need to have specific depth in order for us to implement those poles, and so there was no space to do that.  The only alternative option was to put that particular segment underground.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I misunderstood.  So really...


MR. WASIK:  If I could finish, Mr. Shepherd, because I think there is one key important point that I think I would like to explain.  It's that when you have segments that are overhead and underground, overhead and underground, it is not only more expensive to do those transitions, but it also leads to a less reliable system.

And so when you consider the economics of putting that 3.4 kilometres underground and the benefits that the customers get with a more reliable system, we felt that this was the best approach to take.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  I didn't realize that, of course, the 3.4 million of undergrounding is just a small part of the project.  I get it.

That is, then, all of my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  You caught me without my hearing plan in front of me, but I think it is Mr. Brett for BOMA next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  I think I am next, I believe?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, yes.  Please proceed.

MR. BRETT:  Could you turn up that Board Staff 60 again, PowerStream 60 that we just had on for Mr. Shepherd.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We have it.

MR. BRETT:  Page 3, could you put that up on the screen here?  Yes, okay, that's fine.

I just for a moment want to touch on something that Mr. Shepherd introduced.  If you look at the last paragraph there that is on the screen or on page 3, you write in your response:
"Alectra Utilities initial construction schedule was developed to accommodate YRRTC timelines before detailed designs were developed."


Then you go on to say:
"Although the design-build approach provides flexibility and construction for the YRRTC, this is not a typical practice for Alectra Utilities in completing road-widening projects."


Is this the first time that you had to deal with a design-build contract in one of your relocation projects?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Brett, this is the first significant complex, multi-year initiative of this magnitude that we've dealt with under a design-build arrangement.

MR. BRETT:  And you mentioned in your first sentence of your reply to Mr. Shepherd, which I will try to paraphrase -- I didn't quite catch the import of it.

My question is:  What is it that is -- was different about dealing with a design-build contract?  You suggested, I thought, that you were required to make plans and budgets based on -- without having detailed designs of the work to be done.  What did you have?

MR. WASIK:  So initially, when the very light information was provided to us by the YRRTC, we relied on knowledge of our own infrastructure and the location where the relocations are to take place, to identify what the conflicts were.

Because the final designs were not available to us, we didn't know where the final location of the assets could be located to.  We also had very light information as to what exists, because there wasn't appropriate amount of levels of surveying done, which is part of when you do the design process to do that.

And so what we relied on is historical information of our work on Yonge Street and Highway 7.  We relied on similar types of main relocations like this, but we knew that there was significant amount of work that still needed to be done in order for us to flush out all of the necessary details.

We also were not privy to other utilities' infrastructure in the area.  So we didn't know the gas information.  We didn't know the telecom information.  We also didn't know the water mains, because those are not our infrastructures.

So there is specific assumptions that our initial forecasts made, and it was done on our best effort, but we knew that once the designs were undertaken, those particular pieces of information would be found out.

MR. BRETT:  Were you not ever in a position to say to the YRRTC, "Look, until you give us more detailed designs," or to the design-build contractor, "Until you give us designs we can't give you a reasonable quote or a reasonable plan"?

MR. WASIK:  Absolutely, Mr. Brett, and that is why I think you can recognize that we didn't do much work in 2015 and 2016, is because we weren't comfortable and ready to begin to do construction work until such time as those designs are put in place, and unfortunately that puts us into the position where we are in now, which is that we're putting more assets in-service in the later start of the year because we weren't ready to begin construction until those details were found out.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Except that you also said that you had to make changes, as I read the import of the sentence, the two sentences I read you, that you needed to makes changes once the detailed designs were available because you didn't have the proper information at the outset.  You had to shift the sequencing and some -- shift the substance of what you were doing to some extent.  Is that the case?

MR. WASIK:  No, Mr. Brett.  I would suggest the better way to explain that would be that our initial forecast was based on the limited information that we received from the YRRTC.  Once we started getting into the detailed designs, which was done step by step, it wasn't done all at once as we typically do, those pieces of information, we identified causes, concerns, because we couldn't proceed.  We had to find other ways of doing it.

So that is why we're trying to explain that a design-build arrangement is very helpful for the construction of the project.  The problem is, is that it requires continuous revisions and updates, which makes it very difficult to forecast exactly the timing and the costs of those particular relocations.

MR. BRETT:  Without getting into detail here, because -- is, what is its attractiveness exactly to the contractor?

I understand it to be a case where the design-build contractor does -- is responsible both for design and construction, that he doesn't have to retain outside engineers to do the design for him.

But apart from that, what makes it so different from a more traditional route that you are used to?

MR. WASIK:  So the main benefit of a design-build arrangement is obviously the accelerated way in terms of implementation.

You can begin constructing while the rest of the designs aren't yet finished, and so you can run the design and construction part in parallel for a good portion of the work.

And so the main driver here for this particular implementation was timing.  There is a time line where this particular project was to be put in place, and that time line was driven by the YRRTC, so they chose to undertake this particular project under a design-build because it is very advantageous to do that.  You can --


MR. BRETT:  The YRRTC was not, I take it, the design-build contractor.  You had two design-build contractors involved in the project?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  There is a design-build contractor for the H2 and there is a design-build contractor for the Y2 portions of the project.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And they both were -- well, leave that.

And as I -- just then turning for a moment to -- switching gears for a minute.  If you can turn back to -- well, you are already on it, on page 2.  Just a quick question.  This table that you have here as part of your response to Board Staff 60 is dated September 17th, 2018, and you have a gross project budget of 80.7 million.  Is there any change in this since September 2018?  Is there any update of this number, or...

MR. WASIK:  There is no update.  This is the most up-to-date and accurate forecast that we have.

MR. BRETT:  And your view is this is a final number really, a final estimate.

MR. WASIK:  We are confident that this is the final number.

MR. BRETT:  And I understand the -- yeah, if I go back to page 3 of the same IR, you talk about an overrun of -- a cost overrun of 6.9 million.  Well, first of all, I take it there's no -- speaking about the agreement that you worked out with YRRT over time, in terms of how to allocate costs and how much their contribution would be, I take it there is no one written agreement that sets this out?  That this was something you did on many occasions as particular proposals came forward and you sort of settled each one of them as you went along, there was no -- at no time did you have either a master agreement at the beginning of the project or further on.  There is no document?

MR. WASIK:  So for this particular relocation project, just like any other road authority project, we are guided by the Public Service Works on Highway Act, and that is what we use as our guideline in terms of apportionment of costs.

MR. BRETT:  No question about that.  But it also provides, and in fact you took advantage of that, for you to negotiate an agreement with the authority.  You were telling Mr. Shepherd that you bettered the normal ratio of contribution from the authority, which had been between 30 and 40 percent, and you were able to get 53 percent.

So you not only -- you did follow the act, but you followed it -- you followed that part of it that allowed you to negotiate essentially a separate agreement.

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Brett, how I can explain best is that when additional or incremental effort was requested of Alectra, on a case-by-case basis we evaluated and discussed with, as permitted by the Public Service Works on Highway Act, to attain a different apportionment of costs, but it was done on a case-by-case basis.

MR. BRETT:  Did you feel that you got the best possible deal you could, negotiating with them?

MR. WASIK:  We feel that it is fair.  We feel that it is the best for our ratepayers, and we feel that ultimately the system and the infrastructure project that is going to be available to the residents is the best value.

MR. BRETT:  And does it cover, in your judgment, the scope of the overruns that you have incurred, that have been incurred?

MR. WASIK:  Again, Mr. Brett, we feel that it is fair and we feel that it is equitable as per the Public Service Works on Highway Act.

MR. BRETT:  But there is no single written agreement that you did pursuant to the -- your authority under the Public Works on Highways Act to negotiate a separate agreement?  You didn't reduce that to writing in one place?

MR. WASIK:  So, again, Mr. Brett, we undertook those requests on a case-by-case basis.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And are you aware, under the -- did you consider at all under the Public Works and Highways Act the fact that you did have the right to appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board to have them look at whether or not the amount that you were getting by way of a contribution was appropriate?  Or should it have been perhaps higher because of the -- because of the -- sorry, I will just wait for you to finish your conversation -- that the sharing should have been, perhaps, more generous to you based on the number of factors that you have raised here, the delays, your being required to submit budgets and plans prior to having knowledge of the engineering designs and so on and so forth?  Did you give that any thought, that you might go to the OMB and try to get a higher ratio?

MR. WASIK:  So we were aware that an option exists under the Public Service Works on Highway Act that, should we not come to an agreement on the apportionment of costs, one avenue available to us is to then take that to the OMB.

For our work on this particular project, where we felt we had a compelling case and we presented that case on a case-by-case basis to the YRRTC, we found them to be in agreement and we didn't find ourselves in a situation where we could not agree on those particular terms.  So there was no need for us to seek appeal from somebody else.

What I also -- that's my answer.  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I didn't quite get that.

MR. WASIK:  Would you like me to repeat the entire...?


MR. BRETT:  I thought you sort of stopped and you said "we also."

MR. WASIK:  Yeah.  I was finished my response.

MR. BRETT:  I see, all right.

Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Mr. Ladanyi.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Good morning.

MR. WASIK:  Good morning.

MR. LADANYI:  It is still morning for another 15 minutes.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.

Now, my client is particularly concerned that Alectra ratepayers are being forced to subsidize the York Region Rapid Transit project corporation.

So my first question goes like this:   Would you agree with me that one of the principles of regulation of utilities by the OEB is that regulated utility rates should not be used to subsidize unregulated affiliates and businesses?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So can you turn now to my compendium.  I forgot what the exhibit number is, K1.something.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  K1.8, I believe.  We have it.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good, thank you.  Page 2 of K1.8.  That is some information that I obtained from the website of the York Region Rapid Transit Corporation.  It shows the board of directors of YRRTC.

You will notice that the chair of the board is mayor Scarpitti of Markham.  Do you see that?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I do.

MR. LADANYI:  And the vice chair of the board is Maurizio Bevilacqua of Vaughan.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I see that.

MR. LADANYI:  So would you agree with me that Markham and Vaughan, through their representatives on the YRRT board, have substantial influence on the business of the YRRT?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, I would not.

MR. LADANYI:  You don't think they have any influence on it?


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  They are members of the board, as you have identified.  They are part of -- they are two members of an eight-member Board.

MR. BASILIO:  If I might.  I think whether they have significant influence or not is a question of fact and would likely go to the mandate of that board of directors, and you know, what specific decision-making power or influence they have, we certainly don't have that information.

MR. LADANYI:  But it appears, when you look at the composition of the Board of YRRT, I mean apart from these two gentlemen, there is also a councillor from Markham; there is a councillor from Richmond Hill, in fact two of them.  So there is substantial municipal representation on the Board.

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, is that a question?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Do you agree with me?


MR. BASILIO:  Clearly, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So I would put to you that there is, it is unlikely they would not have significant influence on the operation of the YRRT.

MR. BASILIO:  We can't respond to that.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you turn to page 3.  So this is page 3.  It is not a very good copy.  I might actually want to look up the actual interrogatory.  It is copied from BOMA-4, page 8.  You can see the picture is in colour on that one.  But if you just look at my handout, you will see that the same gentleman, Mr. Bevilacqua and Mr. Scarpitti are also on your board.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And I would put to you, do Markham and Vaughan have significant influence on the operation of Alectra?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. LADANYI:  No?  So although I don't have it here, I believe that Markham owns 16 percent of Alectra.

MR. BASILIO:  I think that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And Vaughan owns 21 percent of Alectra?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, that's right.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BASILIO:  However the board of directors operates in the interests of the corporation.  I think that is an important point here.  So it is not actually the municipality -- the municipalities would have influence to the extent of their shareholding, should they be able to exercise them through their rights in the shareholders' agreement.

The directors are appointed.  Their obligations are to act in the interests of the corporation.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Could you turn to page 4 of my compendium.  This is your response to Energy Probe number 7.  I will not read it to you.  Essentially you say there you are compliant with the Public Works on Highways Act and you referred to this and you discuss it.  Perhaps then we can turn to page 8 -- page 5, sorry.

Here you can see the actual act.  It is only a two-page document and it has been referred to a number of times in this proceeding.

I will not read it to you.  I am going to just draw your attention to one part, which is the road authority.  You can read the definition of the road authority there.  It says:

"Ministry of Transportation and Municipal Corporation Board, commission or other body having control of the construction, improvement, alteration, maintenance and repair of the highway and responsible therefor."


I will put to you that York Region Rapid Transit Corporation is not a road authority, although you referred to it as such.  It is a corporation, but the roads in question are actually not under its control.  They are controlled by the municipality.  Municipalities.  Do you have an answer to that?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  No, I would not agree with that.  York Region is a regional municipality, and the road works in the region of York are controlled by the York Region Rapid Transit Corporation, YRRTC.

MR. LADANYI:  I think they're actually -- I don't want to have a debate here.  This will be subject to argument.  But isn't it a fact there are many road works projects in the region of York, and only some are related to YRRTC?  So therefore the overall control over the roads in York is really held by York Region, or its municipalities.  They are they are the actual road authority.

MR. BASILIO:  We can only speak to our relationship with the authority that exist -- we can't speak to projects going on with the authority that we have nothing to do with.

MR. LADANYI:  So if we can turn to page 7.

So in your cross-examination by Mr. Brett there was a question of an agreement.  Is there an overall agreement between York Region Rapid Transit Corporation and Alectra?  Or are these ad hoc agreements for particular phases of the project?

MR. WASIK:  As we replied to Mr. Brett, the incremental costs were discussed on a case-by-case basis.

MR. LADANYI:  So I will put it to you that this is -- I would say they are kind of unusual.  If York Region Rapid Transit Corporation is an arm's-length corporation from Alectra, this would not be the case.  You would have an actual agreement.  You would not be -- from what you have described, your relationship with York Region Rapid Transit appears to be one of two departments of the same corporation.  It is almost like a hands-shake agreement.  It is too cooperative.

It does not appear to me that you are exercising enough control over the costs and you are doing enough to make sure that the ratepayers are not ending up subsidizing that project.

This is my understanding.  Would you agree with me?

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely not.  I think you have heard testimony from our panel here that, in fact, we have done everything we can to manage the costs of this project.

I would also like to augment I think what was your first question, with respect to the notion of whether we believe there should be cross-subsidization between the regulated utility and affiliates.

I think the implication there was whether or not the YRRT is in fact an affiliate.  In fact it is not.  We operate at arm's length with that entity, and I think we have done our best with respect to the costs as we have provided in testimony.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Could you now turn to page 8.  These are excerpts from the OEB's Affiliate Relationship Code, pages 2, 10, and 11, and they're my pages 8, 9, and 10.

So on page 8 there is a definition of an affiliate which refers you to the Business Corporations Act.  I will not go to the Business Corporations Act, and I think that will be part of argument.  And I am sure Mr. Crawford Smith will --

MR. BASILIO:  But in fact -- and I recognize -- and there isn't a question here.  If you do go to the Business Corporations Act -- and frankly, I have got these definitions -- we have done this so many times I have got these definitions off the top of my head.  It is not -- the YRRT and Alectra are not corporations, one of which is controlled by the other or under common control.  They are clearly not affiliates under the OBCA.  I think that is a statement of fact.

MR. LADANYI:  And we will leave that for argument, in terms of, there is -- certainly by a narrow definition they may not be affiliates, but for practical purposes, as we see in this case, they might actually be behaving as if they're affiliates, but we will leave that for argument.

So why don't we turn to the next page, which is page 9.  And again, if you look at the bottom, paragraph 2.3.3.6, it says that if you were affiliates -- you and York Region Rapid Transit -- you would actually charge them a market price for the work you are doing.

On the next page, on page 10, if there was no market that existed, you would charge them a fully allocated cost.

In both cases you would charge them actually for 100 percent of your costs, and not roughly 50 percent, which they're getting now, or whatever, 52 percent.

Would you agree with me that that is what it says?

MR. BASILIO:  That is what it says, but again, the premise is false.  We are not affiliates.  I think as a matter of principle we should be dealing at arm's length subject to the requirements of other governing statutes and regulations, such as those referred to by the panel.

So certainly those things come into play when we're striking an arrangement of cost sharing for a project of this nature.  I am not sure of the -- I am not sure of the direct applicability of the two provisions that you have cited.

MR. LADANYI:  Those are all of my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.

Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions of clarification.

If you could turn to Staff-60, which is also set out in the compendium of AMPCO on page 16.  It is the table setting out the costs throughout the years.

So I just wanted to understand, your current forecast for '19 is 22.7-million?  Is that correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, Ms. Girvan, just to get the reference correct, it is the compendium of School Energy Coalition, correct?  Page 16?

MS. GIRVAN:  No.  AMPCO.  I think it is in the School Energy Coalition one.  I am not sure which page -- 6, maybe?

MR. WASIK:  Ms. Girvan, as per PRZ-Staff-60, the August 31st, 2018 forecast, which is our latest and we feel confident most confident forecast, identifies that we are currently projecting to put 22.712 net of capital contributions of assets into service.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But then if we turn to Exhibit 2, tab 3, Schedule 10, table 112, that Ms. Butany-DeSouza referred to in the beginning, the amount is 13.2 million?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are asking for the 13.2 million; is that correct?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  For approval of that?  And will the difference between these two at some point get trued up?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  As we identified last year in seeking ICM funding and as well in the pre-filed evidence for this application, our expectation -- and frankly, consistent with the Board's decision in EB-2017-0024 -- we expect to true-up these projects on a project-specific basis.

So when we put in the relief sought for this application back in June, we used the best information we had at that time.  In August we had updated information, but given that we were trueing up the projects on a project-specific basis we did not revise the relief sought.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  When will those amounts be trued-up?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Upon rebasing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Upon rebasing, okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Unless ICM projects are dealt with on a true-up basis otherwise.  However, I believe -- I don't have a direct reference for you from last year's decision --I believe that they were project-specific true-ups upon rebasing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And if, for example -- I will turn to something else.  So if you could please turn to BOMA-10.  So the approved -- it is the approved funding from last year, which is 11.24 million; is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And then in Staff-60, your current forecast for '18 is 12.7; is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  12.7, yes, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And again, that differential, when will that be trued up?  Is that upon rebasing?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Mr. Garner?  Sorry, Ms. Grice.  I need new glasses.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I am going to be referring to AMPCO's compendium, which is Exhibit K1.6.

So if we can please turn to page 1 of AMPCO's compendium.  What this is it --

MS. ANDERSON:  Excuse me, were there hard copies provided?  I actually don't have a copy.  Or -- never mind.  One of my panel members -- I've got it.  Never mind.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So the table that is up on the screen, that is a table that was prepared by AMPCO, and essentially what it does is it takes tables 1 and 2 out of Board Staff 60 and just stacks the data up so that forecast 2016 sits beside the 2016 actuals.

So if we go down and we look at gross capital for the total YRRT project, and we've already gone over these numbers but it will just help me set up my questions, we get to the original forecast, which is the second column from the right, 69 million.  And now the new revised forecast as of August 31st is 80.7 million.

If we look at the net capital, which is the third line down under total YRRT, this essentially starts to tell the story of what's gone on with the project and what variances have occurred as a result of, I believe, some timing issues, in-service schedules and work scope changes that have been directed by the YRRTC.  And you had that discussion with Mr. Shepherd.

So I just wanted to summarize that for the Panel.  So if we look under net capital, Alectra proposed to put $15.1 million into in-service for 2016 and 2017, and that is the addition of the 2.36, plus the 12.75.

But what ended up happening for 2016 and 2017 was that 2.3 million went into service.  Do you agree with that?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  So that is a difference of 12.8-million.

And then what happened with that delay, in placing the assets in-service in 2016 and 2017, is it caused an increase in the forecast of in-service additions of 1.5 million in 2018, and I am looking at the variance line here, and then it caused an increase in in-service additions of 8.2 million for 2019.  And then the last column shows the total cost overrun on the project net of contributions.  Do you agree with that?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GRICE:  Sorry, if I misspoke, it was an additional increase of 18.2 million for 2019, and the net of all of that is a variance of 6.9 million on the project, taking into account contributions.

MR. WASIK:  So, Ms. Grice, we are in agreement that the table that you present reflects that we did not put into service the assets that were initially forecasted in 2016 and 2017, and those assets are going to be placed in-service into 2018 and 2019.

But what I would like to clarify, though, is that the increase in costs, the $6.9 million.  So the numbers that you have presented here are more of a reflection of the timing of when assets are placed into service during this multi-year project.

MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry, that's right.  So the difference in the total project cost, the net capital is 6.9 million.

But if we go back to the gross capital, the original forecast was 69 million.  The total revised forecast now is 80.7 million, and that is a difference of 11.74 million.

In your discussion with Mr. Shepherd, you talked about part of the reason for those cost overruns is that you had to put a section of overhead underground, approximately 4 kilometres.

Do you have a full breakdown of what makes up that 11.74 million, in terms of cost overruns?  Is that something you could provide?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 11.74 MILLION IN TERMS OF COST OVERRUNS


MS. GRICE:  There has been a lot of discussion this morning about YRRTC and the decisions that they made, in terms of changes to the work scope and changes to the in-service schedule are outside of Alectra's control.

Is there anything, in terms of the 11.74 million, that was within Alectra's control?

MR. WASIK:  I don't think I agree with the premise of the question, Ms. Grice, because although the requirements and the requests on us were not in our control, what we tried to do is deliver the project.

And so it is not to suggest that all of this is outside of our control.  We did find opportunities for savings.

So, you know, we are trying to deliver this project at the lowest cost.  So I would not be in agreement to say we don't control it.  We did find opportunities.

What we tried to explain is that in the very large and complex multi-year project such as this, especially when we're doing it under a design-build arrangement, uncertainties are found throughout the project.

But I would offer to you that where we had increases in costs, we found other opportunities to offset those costs.

So when we found out that we had to -- there is no other option, but we had to place assets underground, we looked at our plan again and said where can we possibly reduce our costs and put assets overhead.

So what I am offering to you is that these are costs that have increased.  But Alectra, in every effort when these requests came forward, looked for opportunities where we can minimize those costs and, more importantly, also tried to take advantage of the fact that we're doing this design and build and revising our designs to see if we can make up those particular cost increases in other spots.  That was just one example we wanted to bring forward.

So I would not agree with the question that, you know, these are not within our control.  We did our best to control the costs.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think what we're looking at here is where it comes to the extreme of having to underground in the example that we've offered, that is the final outcome as opposed to the first outcome, which would be, okay, let's underground more of it.

So where we've identified that there was the 3.4 kilometres that needed to be undergrounded, that was the ultimate, after no other resolution can be found, that is less expensive and accommodates all of the constraints.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Then I would ask, given where you are in the project now, are there any lessons learned, that if you could go back to the beginning of the project and re-execute this, is there anything that you would do differently?

MR. WASIK:  I think whenever you have a significant project of this magnitude, there's always going to be lessons learned.  Not just from Alectra, but also from the YRRTC, also from the gas companies, the telephone companies.

I think the most significant lessons learned for us is, I think, what we applied, which is you know, when you have a very aggressive timeline and a road authority is imposing that we move forward and move on this timeline, that proper steps to survey, to measure, to do the designs is more valuable than actually beginning construction early.

So I think that would be probably the most significant lesson that I will tell you that we will be taking away from this exercise is to try to do our best to extract as much information as we could before the construction starts, so that our forecasts are supported by additional information.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  You mentioned that as well in your discussion with Mr. Shepherd, that you had limited information when you did your forecast, that you didn't have information on gas, telecom, water.

When Alectra typically executes projects and you are developing your forecast, when do you typically meet with other utilities to gather that information?  Was it done differently this time, or is this how you always do it?

MR. WASIK:  Well, this is not a typical approach.  So as we provided in our evidence in PRZ-Staff 60, our typical approach is to complete the designs, complete the full surveying, complete all of the permits and the necessary public utility meetings to ensure that all of those details for the entire project are understood before construction begins.

So that is our typical approach.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I just want to talk a little bit about your contributed capital and the steps that you took -- I believe it was referenced that to do your best with respect to the costs and protect the ratepayer.

I just did some quick math when you were discussing things with Mr. Shepherd, so if you will just bear with me.  We can look at the forecast total of contributed capital over gross capital.  I calculate that 38 million of 69 million is 55 percent.

And then you mentioned this morning that your total revised budget of August 31st, the updated contributed capital number is 42.9 million over 80 million is 52 percent.  So the percentage of contributed capital has decreased.

And then when you just isolate the increase in the budget, which is 11.74 million -- and that is the difference between the 80 and 69, so that is the cost increase for the project -- and then you look at the contributed capital has gone from 38.19 million to 42.99, so the difference there is 4.795.

And when I do a relative percentage of contributed capital versus gross capital, it is only 40.8 percent.

So I am just trying to square up how, in your discussion with the public service -- I am going to blow it -- PSW -- I'm sorry, I can't even remember the acronym.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  How about Public Service Works on Highways Act, PSWHA.

MS. GRICE:  Can you help me square all of that up?  It just seems like the percentages have gone in the opposite direction.

MR. WASIK:  So I would not agree with that.

We did attain more capital contributions, as reflected relative to our initial forecasts.  So our initial forecast projected capital contributions of 38.2 million and we attained just under 43 million. So there is more capital contributions that we attained.

Now, when I -- subject to check, when I look at the math that you present, we do recognize that the increases, relative to the initial forecast is very much aligned with the Public Service Works on Highways Act.  So we did attain, as permitted by the regulations, those particular amounts, because in those situations we weren't able to attain additional -- we followed -- we were guided by those particular acts.

MS. GRICE:  So when the project cost increased by 11 million, you couldn't have negotiated 55 percent of that as contributed capital in keeping with the original forecast?

MR. WASIK:  That is not how we would approach it, Ms. Grice.  What we look at is the entire body of work.  So it is not just that incremental amount.  We look at the entire amount of work.  So our forecast over the entire project was updated with what we think is the more appropriate capital contributions.

As we mentioned, there is other changes that we made to see if we can reduce the particular costs.  Not just for us, but also for all of the utilities and the YRRTC, to try to bring this project home at a lower cost.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to move on to a new area.

Oh, I just want to confirm.  This project is still on schedule to be completed by the end of 2019?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

Okay.  I just, I want to ask some questions about the scope of work, because I was having trouble working through the evidence and understanding what you were originally going to do under Y2 and H2, in terms of kilometres relocated overhead and underground, compared to where you are now.

And I just want to start off by looking at pages 5 and 6 of the AMPCO compendium.  So page 5 provides detailed work for Y2, and then page 6 provides detailed work for H2.  And these pages were in your business case that was filed with this application.  And I went back and looked at the business case that was filed for the 2018 ICM and it is the same detailed work plan for both projects.

And we know a lot has happened since this document was prepared.  So can you just confirm, these tables that are in the business case are out of date; would that be a correct finding?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. WASIK:  So the table 1, detailed work for Y2, and table 2, detailed work for H2, were developed in April of 2018, prior to our filing, and do require to be updated based on the most recent information.

MS. GRICE:  Would you be able to provide an update for those two tables?  To reflect the --


MR. WASIK:  Yes, we can.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE TWO TABLES AT PAGES 5 AND 6 OF THE AMPCO COMPENDIUM, EXHIBIT K1.6


MS. GRICE:  Now, I am still trying to get an understanding of what the accomplishments are for Y2 and H2.  So if we could, please, turn to page 14 of AMPCO's compendium.  This is a response to AMPCO interrogatory 2, and in Part B we'd asked that Alectra provide the forecast and actual kilometres for each year of the multi-year project separated into overhead and underground plant.

So page 14.  I will start off by saying, first of all, there is no forecast for '16 and '17.  Is that something that you could provide, would be the forecast kilometres for those two years?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Ms. Grice.  We're not asking for any relief in relation to '16 and '17.

MS. GRICE:  No.  But I guess what I am trying to understand is there have been -- in '16 and '17 you were going to put 15.1 million into service, and that didn't occur.

So I am trying to understand the project as a whole, what the original accomplishments were to be versus where the project is at now.  So that information is missing.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. SMITH:  We can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADD THE 2016 AND 2017 FORECAST AND ACTUAL INFORMATION TO AMPCO-2 PART B, AT AMPCO COMPENDIUM EXHIBIT K1.6, PAGE 14

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then just in terms of this table, I know that there are pole replacements and switches and things like that.  But in terms of how you measure the completion of the project, is this what Alectra is looking at?  The kilometres of underground versus overhead for each section?  Is that what you look at?

MR. WASIK:  No, Ms. Grice.  This wouldn't be a fair unit of measure to evaluate the scope of this particular relocation.

MS. GRICE:  And why would that be?

MR. WASIK:  Well, as you pointed out, there are segments of work or scope of work that include transformers, switch gear.  There is also the distribution system, where there is secondary connections off the main feeders.

So it is not just the main feeders.  There is many other elements of the work that need to be done, including civil infrastructure, and that is not always captured in the kilometres of line.

MS. GRICE:  So is there a big discrepancy in the kilometres of line that were originally forecast compared to what is actually going to be done at the end of the project?  Is there a big change between those two?

MR. WASIK:  There isn't.

MS. GRICE:  So when this table is updated, I will have all that information then to assess that?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Sorry.  Just for the record, you will have all what information?

MS. GRICE:  The kilometres of overhead and underground for each of the Y2 and H2 segments.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, you will have that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And I just have a clarification question regarding the 2018 forecast.

If you can please turn to page 11.  In table 2 there it shows the total forecast for 2018, and I'm -- under the heading "current forecast" it shows 1.64 kilometres of underground and 6.86 kilometres of overhead.  But in the table that we were just looking at, back on page 14, it says 11.6 and 20.17.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. WASIK:  Miss Grice, if I could ask you to -- point your attention over to response A of that particular question.  It would provide you the most up-to-date projections, in terms of the kilometres of circuit line relocation.  So table 1 has that provided to you for 2018 and 2019.

MS. GRICE:  So then in -- okay.  So then there's -- the table I pointed to on page 11, the 2018 information is not the most current.  Is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, I just wanted to clarify that.  Thank you.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Sorry, Ms. Grice.  It is just mislabelled.  The table, table 2, the header for those columns is mislabelled.

MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry, can you point me to what is mislabelled?

MR. WASIK:  When putting together this table for you, Ms. Grice, we attempted to align the 2018 forecast versus the 2018 revised forecast.

So we have to clarify that the first two columns are the 2018 underground and overhead relocation original forecast, and then the next two columns are the 2018 revised forecast.

Regrettably, the table reflects that it says 2019.  So that needs to be revised.

MS. GRICE:  Oh, I see, I see.  Then similarly with --


MR. SMITH:  2019.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Same issue.

MR. WASIK:  Same issue.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe, just for the record, it would be helpful if we just re-filed the corrected version?

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that would be helpful.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  So that will be an undertaking, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be an undertaking, J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO REFILE A CORRECTED VERSION OF THE TABLE AT PAGE 11 OF AMPCO COMPENDIUM EXHIBIT K1.6


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Just to close out this discussion on scope of work.  So we looked -- at the beginning of this discussion, we looked at the two tables that were provided in the business case.  Those were on pages 5 and 6 of AMPCO's compendium.

My understanding is you are going to be filing updated versions of that scope of work, or that detailed work.

So the new tables that you are providing, is that then what Alectra would consider to be the accomplishments of Y2 and H2?  Because it includes information such as switch gear -- oh, actually, I think that's poles.

Would that be the most -- would that be what Alectra uses to manage the accomplishments on this project?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Just one quick question.  On the table, in one the columns, column 5, you say length of 1,000 MCM CU.

Can you just please tell me what that stands for?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  It is the size of the diameter of a copper cable.  1,000 MCM is a unit measure.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just have one area left.  Can we please turn to page 23?

Starting at line 7, it says:
"In EB-2015-0003, the OEB approved a net amount of $7.17 million in rates for the road authority South projects, and $1.49 million in rates for Road Authority North, for a total of $8.66 million for PowerStream."


So I just want to confirm that is currently what is in rates for road authority projects?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That was part of the former PowerStream's 20 -- what he ended up being the 2017 rate application.

MS. GRICE:  So that is in 2017 rates?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MS. GRICE:  Can we please turn to page 20 of AMPCO's compendium?  It says here under part A that the current forecast for road authority spending in 2018, without considering the YRRT projects, is $4.6 million.  Is that still your forecast for 2018?

MR. WASIK:  We have an updated forecast for 2018 road authority work of $5.44 million.

MS. GRICE:  $5.44 million?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Was that an update from the end of August?

MR. WASIK:  So it was updated as of our Q3 forecast.  So that would have been the end of September, after we filed.

MS. GRICE:  Should we update that interrogatory as well?

MS. ANDERSON:  Is there anything more than the number you are looking for?  Because we have the number on the record now, but if that is sufficient.

MS. GRICE:  No, that's fine.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We don't have any more information than that, what Mr. Wasik has just offered.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Page 7 of the AMPCO compendium, please.  I am just trying to clarify the YRRT project and in this page -- this page is from the PowerStream rate zone distribution system plan that was filed in EB-2015-0003.

If you look up at the top, under scope of work for the Road Authority PowerStream South, it lists the YRRT project and it lists Y2.2 and H2.

So if we can just quickly jump to BOMA 19, to the map of BOMA 19.  If you can go to the map on BOMA 19, just because you can't read the streets here, if you can just move it up just a little bit.

So I am just reading from the business case from the distribution system plan, but I just want to look at the map, because it provides the location of Major Mac, that is in the middle of the map, up to 19th Avenue, which is where the pink section ends, north of Major Mac.

And then the H2 project, it says Highway 7 Pine Valley.  If you look at the purple section along Highway 7 over to the left of the map, it's got Pine Valley to Highway 400, and the GO tracks to Yonge, Highway 7 and Vaughan.  So the two sections on this map are referenced in this business case that was part of the DSP.

So I understand from the interrogatory responses that you have said there is nothing in base rates related to YRRT.  But it is identified in the scope of work for Road Authority South.

So I just wanted to clarify.  Is that the understanding that even though it is mentioned here in the scope of work, there is nothing in that 7.17 million in base rates for Road Authority South that is linked to this project?

MR. WASIK:  Ms. Grice, the legacy or the former PowerStream was aware that some work was coming up with respect to the YRRT.

At the time of doing the -- putting forward the DSP in 2015, there was no information known.  And so the scope does reference specific areas, and it includes a lot of areas of where we anticipate road widening to take place over the next five years.  But it does not include any costs associated with the YRRT projects, because they were unknown at that time.

I think it would be helpful if, when looking at the DSP, if I can maybe ask to bring up the DSP section relating to road authority to look at it in the context of the DSP.

So when we look at what the DSP projected for road authority work for the period -- if I can maybe ask to bring up EB-2015-0003, the DSP.  Exhibit G --


MR. SMITH:  This might take a moment.

MR. WASIK:  -- tab 2.

MR. SMITH:  What page?

MR. WASIK:  It would be under Exhibit G, tab 2, page 6 of 11, under 5.4.1, capital expenditure plan summary.  Here we are.

So right in the middle we see some -- right in the middle of table 2 we see road authority, where you see from 2015 -- oh, please scroll up.  Thank you.  You see from 2015 to 2019 6.258 million, 9.7 million, 8.678 million, 8.35 million, and 5.7 million.

When you consider in aggregate the five years of the DSP and you consider how much was included in the DSP for road authority work, it accounts to 38.715 million.

We provided in our response to SEC-12 a full listing of all of the road authority projects that includes actuals and forecasted for 2019.

So if we were to look at all of the projects and remove the YRRT project from that list, we can derive that all of the actual and forecasted projects completed from 2015 to 2019 over the same five years accounts to about $32.3 million.

So in fact, the point we are trying to present here is that, yes, the road authority work, some years may be off, but if you look at the entire body of the five years, which is what the DSP plans for, we're actually very close to what we projected would be done under road authority once you remove the Bathurst project, which is under consideration with this application, and the YRRT projects.

And surely with $38.7 million it does not include the YRRT project in the funding request.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Which PowerStream had identified at the time of that proceeding was new information and beyond the DSP.

MS. GRICE:  But then why is the project listed under scope of work?  I guess that is what I am having trouble understanding, is what was known at that time.

And then if you look at page 8 of the AMPCO compendium --


MR. WASIK:  Sorry, page 8 of AMPCO compendium?

MS. GRICE:  So this is the second page, which shows the spending.  So if YRRT is not in there, what is accounting for the average increase in spending over the time period?

MR. WASIK:  Well, specifically we want to clarify the YRRT Y2 and H2 project are not in the DSP, because those -- that particular project was not known to the legacy PowerStream and Alectra at the time of submission of the application.

MS. GRICE:  I guess I am just having trouble because it is in the scope of work.  I guess that is why I am -- that is why I wanted to further clarify, is that it is listed as a project under the scope, and the segments of work match up to the map of the YRRT project and specifically relates to the work that is being undertaken right now.

MR. WASIK:  So again, Ms. Grice, when we were putting together the plan, the details related to the magnitude and the amount of work to the YRRT were not clear and known to us, and so those costs were not included.  So we were aware that some work is coming up, and that is why it was included in the scope.  But only during the proceedings did it become clear of the magnitude and the size of the YRRT relocation work, and we identified a need for a significant more amount of capital in order to complete that work.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And can you just clarify, when did work on the YRRT project start?  I believe we established it was 2015.  Is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  Are you specifically asking about the Y2 and H2 of the YRRT?  Because this is the project that is part of this proceeding.

MS. GRICE:  YRRT.  The YRRT --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The Y2 H2.

MR. WASIK:  The Y2 H2.  So we started exploring the designs with the YRRTC in 2015, but the actual design and planning work started late 2015, early 2016.

MS. GRICE:  So you knew it was coming up in 2015?  It was a project that was on the horizon at that time?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  There was no detail available in 2015.  PowerStream filed its DSP in 2015.  There was no funding in rates for this project.  The Board specifically cited that in its decision, that PowerStream had identified that it needed more money for its capital program because of this looming Y2 H2 project and that during the custom IR proceeding, which became the 2017 rate application, that it was new information, the size and magnitude of the project, but it did not have any detail.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  2014 has a $10.9 million road authority work.  Can you explain what that project was related to.  Is that something easy that you can tell us?

MR. WASIK:  That information was provided in our response to SEC 12.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. WASIK:  If I could take your attention to table 1 of that response.  We have broken down the actual expenditures in 2014 for you.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I will take a look.  And then do you have 2017 actuals For road authority work, north and south?

MR. WASIK:  They're also included in that table to response to SEC 12.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, great.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Thank you.  I am mindful that we did not take an official morning break, and I am just getting -- I was hoping we might wrap everything up, but I am not quite sure.  I don't know how much Mr. Garner has or Mr. Murray.  So...

MR. GARNER:  I think I probably have about 20 minutes.  It might be a bit longer.  I am not sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  So I am thinking maybe we should just take a short break right now, and I was hoping we would be able to wrap it up, but I don't think that is possible until after 1:00.  So if we maybe try to keep it to like ten minutes, because I don't think we have that much --


MR. MURRAY:  To just give you an idea in terms of staff time, I don't think we will be any more than five minutes, and we might even be zero minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  The Panel may have a few.

Is there a preference to drive on through -- I'm looking at the court reporter as well --


MR. MURRAY:  Yeah.

MS. ANDERSON:  I thought so.  I thought so.  I think just a quick ten minutes, then we will be back, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:40 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:55 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  We're back.  Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I am going to try and quicken my estimate and be as quick as I can.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I have a compendium.  I think it has been labelled K1.9 and I hope you have a hard copy.  But if we can just bring it up on the screen and look at tab 1.

It is from the technical conference of the last case, 0024.  And in that, there is a conversation between myself and a gentleman named Mr. Matthews.  Now Mr. Matthews isn't here today and perhaps, for the edification of us all, you can just describe who Mr. Matthews is, or was.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Still is.

MR. WASIK:  Still is.  So Mr. Matthews is senior vice-president of network services.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  You will see in this conversation that I have extracted, we talk about -- we were exploring, my client was exploring the certainty that you had with the YRRT estimate at that time.

And so we talk about a number, and the number you will notice there in the highlight is $10 million, and he has indicated that they've signed purchase orders for an amount of $10 million.  


Do you know what he is talking about?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I do, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  And is that the amount that underpins the $11.2 million I believe the Board subsequently approved for that ICM?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct, Mr. Garner.  The $10 million is relative to the work for the 2018 scope.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, one of the things that we talk about in that is recognition of timeframes.  He says that the contract specifically outline a completion period.

So I am a little now wondering, based on what you've said in the scope changes that happened, what happened to that contract and that $10 million that talks about a completion period?  Can you help me with that?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So again, when you examine Mr. Matthews' statements, he was referring to the work that we have with respect to the contractors working in alignment with the YRRTC.

So very similar to how the YRRTC requests us to perhaps sequence the work differently, they would also facilitate that to all of the contractors at work in order for that work to progress.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So just -- help me here again.  The contract is between Alectra and whom?

MR. WASIK:  It is between Alectra and -- well, we have a purchase order between us and the YRRTC, and that's to facilitate the capital contributions.

But we also have a contract between us and the constructors who are actually building the work on our behalf, if not using our own crews.

MR. GARNER:  Does the contract between you and the YRRTC indicate timelines in it?

MR. WASIK:  Subject to check, it does.

MR. GARNER:  And in this discussion we're talking about contracts.  At that time, did that contract with the YRRTC have timelines indicated that you were to complete by for that $10 million, that work?

MR. WASIK:  I would have to review the contracts to determine whether or not there's any specific timelines where the work needs to be completed.  But I do know that the purchase orders do have a specific time date upon which they're applicable.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  What I am trying to understand is whether you had to go back and renegotiate that contract, because you had a contract with timelines and -- or they had to come back to you and renegotiate that contract.

MR. WASIK:  No, we did not have to renegotiate the contracts.

MR. GARNER:  Are these contracts filed in the evidence any place, anywhere?  Not the contracts with your contractors, but the contract that you have with the YRRTC.

MR. WASIK:  You mean the purchase order that we would have with the YRRTC?

MR. GARNER:  So that is the nomenclature I should be using?  You don't have a contract agreement.  You have a purchase order with YRRTC, and that is all?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. WASIK:  So, Mr. Garner, to the best of my knowledge, I am not aware if there is a contract with the YRRTC.  I am aware that there is a purchase order.

MR. GARNER:  Is it possible to file that purchase order with the Board, and any amendments that were made to it?  Is there any reason that it is confidential or anything?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, which purchase orders would you like us to file?  Mr. Matthews refers to a number of purchase orders totalling $10 million for 2018.  Is that what you are asking us to file?

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Smith, it would be the original purchase orders in their entirety, and then the amended purchase orders in their entirety that would then demonstrate the differences that were provided to the -- at the two time frames.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry.  Maybe it's just me.  For 2018?  Or is the request to file all purchase orders ever issued in connection with this project?

MR. GARNER:  No.  The ones I am looking for are the ones being spoken to by Mr. Matthews.  And then the subsequent ones that you now rely upon for your new estimate of this.

MR. SMITH:  There hasn't been any examination with respect to purchase orders for 2019.  So I am not sure what I am being asked yet.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Shepherd, go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the applicant is doing $80 million of work.  They have purchase orders from YRRTC for that $80 million of work, which includes discussion of the contributions.

It will also show the sequence of changes which have caused the increases.

It may be a very voluminous piece of document.  And if that is the case, then they can respond by saying here is a summary instead.

But I think it is best if the Board actually has the real purchase orders; they're probably pretty straightforward.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that was my question, the sort of volume are we talking here ...

MR. SMITH:  I have no idea.  I don't know.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We don't know.  We would have to take a look.

MS. ANDERSON:  So we are expected to be back here tomorrow morning.  I guess the question is how long would it take you to find out whether or not, you know, if we're talking binders full of materials versus doing a summary.

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, as I complete my cross-examination, maybe you will see the relevance of what I am seeking in all of that, so then you could determine ...

MS. ANDERSON:  We are speaking here again not to the entire YRRT, but to Y2 and H2.

MR. SMITH:  Y2 and H2 components.  Can we just wait to the punch line and circle around, and then maybe there might be something that could be done.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Smith has high expectations of me, I think.  I would like to just now ask you a different question about the $10 million that was talked about last year.

Was there a contingency amount built into that number that you projected to the Board?  Because you did ask the Board for 11. -- I think it is .2 or .3, and that number he's speaking about with the purchase orders is 10 million.  Is the rest contingency?  Or what was the contingency?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  As we have established, Mr. Matthews, though well alive, is not with us here today.

We can't speak to further specifics on the $10 million.

The 11.2 was what we sought last year in the 2017-0024, recognizing -- as I think I had in my exchange with Ms. Girvan -- that we would true-up at a project level basis, and that is on page 61 of last year's decision, and that we would true-up at the time of rebasing.

MR. GARNER:  Maybe I could ask it this way.  Of the 11.2 million that was sought in the prior case for the YRRT, how much of that was designated as a contingency?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Garner, I think it would be helpful that we clarify that the 11.24 million was the amount that we were confident we were going to place in-service in 2018, and that was the amount that, based on the forecast at that time of that hearing, we knew we were going to move forward and place that in-service.

MR. GARNER:  That sounds like to me zero contingency.  That was the in-service amount that you expected?

MR. WASIK:  That is the amount that we expected, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Fair enough, thank you.

I wonder just for a moment if you can pull up AMPCO's table, which is the first exhibit in their compendium.  And I must thank Ms. Grice for this, which is very helpful and easy to see the numbers.

Now, the two numbers I just want to focus on, because I am a little bit confused, is the two-19 forecast, which is 4.488 million.  Do you see that number?  And then the 22.7 next to it, those two numbers.

Now, am I correct in saying that that 4.488.1 million was the number that last August you told the Board that was going to be what you would have remaining to be put in-service in 2019, and now you are telling the Board that number will be, in fact, 22.7 million?  Have I got that right?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  But I would like to maybe clarify that when we presented the entire schedule, the entire forecast schedule, we wanted to be very clear -- and we believe we were -- that this is a multi-year project.  And at that time we believed that should the forecasted amounts for '16, '17, '18, and '19 fold out the way that we initially originally forecasted, that in 2019 we would have placed $4.48 million in-service.

What we've since learned is that because of the delays that we explained in PRZ-Staff-60 we did not put the assets in-service in '16 and '17.  As a result there is a slight increase in the forecast of in-service for 2018 and an increase in 2019.

But I think it is going to be -- I think it is very important to recognize that overall the budget, the overall costs of the budget outside of the $6.9 million increase, is staying intact.

MR. GARNER:  I think I understand that, Mr. Wasik.  What I am struggling with is, if you look at the technical conference date, it was December 1st, 2017, and what I am struggling with is why would there be a forecast in '16 that didn't occur?  Like, when I look at that 2.368 million on that chart, why would I be sitting in December of '17 looking at a number that is not actually occurred?

MR. WASIK:  Can you help me, Mr. Garner, with the reference to that technical conference line, where --


MR. GARNER:  Well, when I look at -- I am just saying the technical conference took place in December, and I am now going back to the chart that AMPCO prepared and I'm looking at the 2016 forecast, and that says $2.368 million.

So that strikes me as, at that time, you were indicating that you were forecasting to have spent that money in '16.  But yet we are at that time in December of '17, December '17, a year later, and it strikes me that I just don't understand how that could have been a forecast that didn't come to fruition.

MR. WASIK:  Okay.  Well, Mr. Garner, what I can clarify for you is that once the funding for the 2018 was approved, and the Board's decision was that we were to true-up on a project-by-project basis, we then started to separate and track this particular project's in-service.

The legacy practice in the PowerStream rate zone was not to track projects by in-service, but rather by capital expenditures.

Only after the decision was rendered by the Ontario Energy Board that we are to true-up on a project-by-project basis did we set up the processes to identify what the in-service amounts were.

Now, we started with 2018 and we started tracking 2018 expenditures with what was placed in-service, and we started focusing on 2019 as to what was remaining.  And when we started seeing that the 2019 increases from an in-service standpoint were taking place, only at that time did we focus our attention back into 2017 and 2016 and realized that our original forecast of what we anticipated to place in-service didn't materialize as we had originally anticipated.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I am struggling to understand that.  In December of 2017 you were telling the Board that you had spent $2.3 million, $2.4 million, the prior year on the project, and in fact, are you saying that in fact when you went to look at in in detail that wasn't in fact correct?  It was that the accounting was not sufficiently
-- I am trying to find the words here -- the accounting was sufficiently vague that you in fact had to recategorize that investment as something different?

MR. WASIK:  I would not agree with that, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So --


MR. WASIK:  Let me clarify.  The table that you are referring to, which is the top table 1 of PRZ-Staff-60, and the table that we provided in our previous application last year, was a forecast.  All of it was forecast.

There is no actuals in there.  So I want to clarify that we did not try to present actuals.  It was all forecast.

What I was trying to clarify is that the practice at the legacy PowerStream was not to track projects with in-service amounts.  What the practice was, is that once a particular project or work order gets energized and placed in-service, the particular materials would be allocated based on GL accounts, not mapped to a specific project.

So we didn't have a practice.  Only after the OEB's decision where we were trueing up on a project-by-project basis did we set up the procedures to track in-service for projects.

We started with 2018, and we recognized that we were tracking as we anticipated, we started focusing on 2019, and we started realizing that our forecasts were increasing.

Only at that point did we circle and focus back on what happened in 2017 and 2016 and realized -- became aware that what we initially forecast to put in-service didn't materialize as initially anticipated.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  And subsequently that leads to the ultimate end where the 4.488 isn't what happens in 2019.  The 22.7 is what is going to happen.  Thank you.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  I would like to move on to the next tab in my exhibit, which is at tab 2.  And this has been brought up before, the Public Service Works on Highway Act.

You will see in my version I have highlighted the sub-paragraph (2).  And it talks about, in this case, a default -- "in default of agreement such costs", and "shall be apportioned equally between the road authority and the operating corporation and other costs shall be borne by the operating corporation."

I take it in this circumstance you are the operating corporation that's being referred to; is that right?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And so when I read this piece of legislation -- and I am not a lawyer, but when I read the legislation I was perplexed by two things.  One is it talks about labour in this and not capital.  It talks about labour costs, but it does also talk about different types of labour, equipment-saving work, et cetera.

Can you help me understand how this act works for you in the distinction between labour and capital costs of the utility?

MR. WASIK:  I think the definition for the cost of labour is clearly outlined in the definition section.  So if you scroll up it will clearly explain what is included in the cost of labour.

So in this particular situation, our interpretation of the regulations reflects that the cost of labour, as per A, B, C, D, and E of the definitions is being followed.

We also take into consideration labour-saving devices, which in the very simplest terms are trucks or tools used to expedite the work that needs to be done.

So what I wanted to clarify, Mr. Garner, is that in your highlighted section --


MR. GARNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. WASIK:  -- I recognize that you didn't highlight the first portion, which I think is very important, which is that the cost of labour employed should be equally proportioned.

There is other parts of the capital work which includes materials, which includes other particular type of work, that when you read the remaining section of that particular clause of the act identifies that that should be borne by the distributor.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I wasn't meaning to be unfair to you, because that is what I was trying to ask and wonder myself, which was, when you said first of all in what you said to me you followed the act in respect to the labour, what I am understanding from that is that with respect to labour you did a 50 percent adjustment.

With respect to capital, however, the act is less prescriptive and somewhat vague and basically talks about having an agreement or not having an agreement.

So when you are dealing with -- at least that is the way I understand it.  That is not true?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Garner, the entire context of this project is all capital.  There is no operating, maintenance or administrative costs associated.  It's all capital...

MR. GARNER:  So the labour is capitalized?

MR. WASIK:  The labour is capitalized, and what it reflects is that we attain proportionate apportionment of labour costs that are capitalized as part of this project from the road authority.

MR. GARNER:  Why then, if that is the case, it says apportioned equally between the parties.  That would say 50-50.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  But you were suggesting -- you used numbers like 30-40 before and that you had negotiated, so to speak, a deal.  But doesn't this say the deal by default is 50-50?

MR. WASIK:  No.

MR. GARNER:  Help me.

MR. WASIK:  Sure.  On a typical road widening project, costs labour costs are about 60 percent of the overall capital costs.

So if you take a look at the fact that 60 percent is the capital labour and you split that 50-50, you get to your 30 percent.

I will use -- maybe for simplicity.  Let's say a road authority project costs a million dollars; $600,000 of that would be labour costs.  We would split the $600,000 equally between us and the road authority, and that is where you get your $300,000, which is your 30 percent.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So I guess -- I think I understand.  So that, it seems to me, gets to the issue about coming to an agreement because, in essence, what you are agreeing to is how the labour that you are going to capitalize, how much of it will be considered capitalized labour and how much of it will not be considered capitalized labour for the purpose of the agreement.

Is that what you're saying?

MR. WASIK:  No.  All labour relating to this project is going to be capitalized.

MR. GARNER:  But the agreement itself talks about labour.  All I am trying to get to is how you get to that amount is you have to agree with the authority as to -- it's not all labour in the sense of that definition, right?  Because in that sense of the definition, if it was all labour, it would be 50-50.  But it is not all labour.

MR. WASIK:  So in some situations where there is incremental amount of effort needed above a like for like move, or there's something that is being requested of us, we would then on a case-by-case basis bring up to the road authority their requests and discuss how to apportion the costs on a fair basis and have the road authority pay a higher contribution.

This is a good thing, Mr. Garner, where we're asking for more contributions from the road authority.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I guess what I'm just really trying to understand is why Alectra wouldn't take a position that basically says it is all capitalized labour, ergo, the apportionment is 50-50.  And then that is subject to negotiation and that is what it says, is you can have an agreement.

But why wouldn't that be the position that you would take?

MR. WASIK:  Because if that was the position that was taken, then YRRTC would have paid a much lower capital contribution than what we were able to negotiate.

MR. GARNER:  If it was all labour, it would be lower?

MR. WASIK:  Relative to the total costs.

MR. GARNER:  Tell me, when you have these discussions with the YRRTC, do you write an agreement up as to how you are going to apportion the costs?

I mean, we talked about purchase orders, which perhaps you can explain what that is separately.  But do you write an agreement up that puts flesh on the bone, so to speak, to this provision?

You know, you said it could be 30 or 40 percent.  You negotiated 55 percent.  How does that negotiation become real between these two parties?

MR. WASIK:  So what takes place is that it is done on a case-by-case basis, and it is done within the discussions of that particular scope of work.

And then there's estimates that are involved in terms of providing to the YRRTC what those particular incremental costs look like, and those are presented.

The actual capital contribution arrangement comes from when we bill the road authority for that particular type of work, and we explained in our billing their apportionment of costs for that.

MR. GARNER:  So is in the purchase order or some other document a place where the estimate of any given project's apportionment of labour, and ergo the amount of capital contribution, is that embedded in the purchase order?  Or is that embedded --


MR. WASIK:  It is on the invoice.

MR. GARNER:  It is on the invoice, but not the purchase order.  It is not agreed to prior to the work being done?  It is only agreed to subsequent to the work being done?

MR. WASIK:  If there is incremental costs associated, then there is agreement done on a case-by-case basis upfront.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I think the next place I would like -- I would just like to speak to is on the ICM true-up.  Ms. Butany-DeSouza, maybe you could help me.

On the ICM true-up, as I recall last year, a figure of -- and this is just off the top of my head, but a figure of around a $800,000 revenue requirement associated with the ICM.  I am not asking you to verify it, but there is a figure out like that out based on the capital in-service you expected, and of course that is not quite what happened.

When the ICM is trued-up, and you say it was going to be trued-up, is it trued-up for every year's difference, so in some years you will be under, some years you will be over, and there is over collections and under collections.

Is that how it is trued-up?  Or is it your idea it's trued-up as the project is finished and it's trued-up for the period?  How does that work, in your mind?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  First, Mr. Garner, you will appreciate that, one, we're guided by the Board's findings in EB-2017-0024 and the reference page is the one I offered earlier, which is page 61, that the OEB accepts Alectra Utilities' commitment to include a project level true-up  at its next -- at the time of its next rebasing.

Appreciating that that is eight years from now, I can only offer the practical, which, if we had less in-service additions for the 2018 project, then that project is being trued-up on its own versus the 2019 project, for instance, Y2 H2 for 2018 versus Y2 H2 for 2019, each of them being trued-up in the 2027 -- I believe that's correct -- rebasing application.

MR. GARNER:  I guess what I am really trying to understand is -- let's take an extreme example, just to make the point.

Let's say none of the money got spent on an ICM project, the YRRT, until the fourth year of a three-year project, and therefore is really kind of trued-up only -- you know, it is all spent, but only spent in the last year.  That means you're collecting the revenue requirement difference in four years and then you've actually put in-service.

Is the true-up taking into account the in-service of that asset vis-à-vis when the ICM revenue requirement was being embedded into people's rates?  Is that how it works?  Or is it the fact that simply it came to the right amount in the end, it is trued-up to zero because that is what you spent?  Does timing matter?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  My expectation was the latter versus the former.

MR. GARNER:  Where timing doesn't matter, it is just as if you spent it all ...

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  In this particular in particular, as we had identified at the outset that it was a multi-year project, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I just wanted to get an understanding of how you thought it might work.

MS. ANDERSON:  Before you move on, is your expectations for the true-up -- because you mentioned a number of things -- is that in your evidence on what you expect to happen compared to, for instance, the policy or the decision?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We tied back to the decision.  We haven't further elaborated for the true-up at rebasing until we file the rebasing application.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And you were just going through -- you were just reading from the decision.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is it available to call up?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  It is page 61.  It is the paragraph -- like a third of the way down, after the indented quotation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So the last sentence says "at that time", which I guess is the time of rebasing --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- the OEB will determine if a true-up is warranted.

So I get that's -- I am just questioning is your expectation that this is going to be material and there will be a true-up?  Or is it based on this?  And is that in your evidence somewhere?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we accept that the OEB will determine if the true-up is warranted, based on what the overall project outcome is at the time of rebasing.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I don't -- I know that we put in evidence --


MS. ANDERSON:  The project-by-project --


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  Yes, on a project -- we did put in the evidence that the true-up would be on a project basis.  I just don't have the reference handy at the moment, but if you bear with me for a second, I might be able to put my finger on it.

Perhaps rather than take up too much of the Board's time, I can either give you the reference as an undertaking, in particular since we are back here tomorrow morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's fine.  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  That's fine, thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as an undertaking, Undertaking J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE EVIDENTIARY REFERENCE TO MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA'S STATEMENT THAT THE TRUE-UP WILL BE ON A PROJECT-BY-PROJECT BASIS


MR. GARNER:  Now, I want to clarify something from this morning.  Mr. Shepherd was talking about anticipation of other similar projects.  And Mr. Wasik, I think you said that you didn't have any such information.

But I wonder if you could help me.  I am looking at the Figure 2 that was in your attachment, I think it is 31, but it is also the same figure that is used in AMPCO's compendium.  They have it at page 4 of attachment 31.

There is a map inside that, that has a coloured map that has the things -- yes, that is the map.

And when I look at that map, in addition to Y2 H2, I see H3, Y3, H4, a number of other things.  Do you know what those are?

MR. WASIK:  Our understanding is that those are other sites that are being considered as well, but we don't have any details on that information.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  But there is a plan that you are aware of, at least a plan enough that someone drew it on a map and called it a Y something and an H something, correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Now, one of the other things I wanted to ask you about in relationship to this project and future projects like this, and to take -- in the sense take lessons from this one.

As I understand it, are you aware that Mississauga also has a light rail project that they are contemplating as part of a transit plan?  Are you aware of that in any sense?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I am.

MR. GARNER:  And are you aware that I believe Hamilton has one called something like the B line or something similar to that?  Are you aware of that?

MR. WASIK:  I am aware that Hamilton is considering a light rail transit project as well.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And would these type of projects, in your mind, generally run into the same type of issues, plant movement and that in order to accommodate them, and also because they're powered, powered -- power needs, et cetera?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  There is involvement from Alectra that would be required to facilitate those types of projects.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.

And when you were here last year with your ICM project, you had a proposal for deferral accounts for projects related to Metrolinx crossings.  Do you recall that?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Have those crossings actually been completed, do you know?

MR. WASIK:  No, they have not proceeded.

MR. GARNER:  But they're still planned by the utility?  Do you still understand them to be planned and, therefore, potentially later to be done; is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  We understand they're still under consideration, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Can I put it to you or just ask you this question?  As opposed to most of your capital programs that you do, including the ones you are doing under ICM, is the distinction between these large projects, these commuter projects or transportation projects like that, one of their characteristics is, is you have shown with this one, this project, YRRT, is that there are things well beyond your control.  You just have to react to them.  In this case it cost you a fair amount of money, isn't that correct, $6.9 million, and timing differences also; is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So as we pointed out, under specific types of road authority projects we recognize that the road authority has jurisdiction over the schedule and the scope.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And it wouldn't be -- it wouldn't be unreasonable to think that with respect to the LRTs, the light rail transits in Hamilton and Mississauga and the Metrolinx ones, that you might run into similar problems because they are large projects done by authorities that are outside of your control and you may just need to react to them in similar fashion, correct?

MR. WASIK:  I think, you know, with experience of working on large infrastructure projects such as this, we're going to be applying the lessons learned and obviously structuring and approaching those projects so that we don't repeat the same challenges that we had now.

But anytime you are implementing a significant project in a downtown core, there are anticipated complexities and challenges that are expected.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  When you deal with these -- based on your experience with the YRRT, and our discussion earlier about the Highway Service Act and your need to negotiate contribution, I imagine each one of these goes through that same sort of process where you have to sit down in some sense and negotiate how you are going to get contributions for each one of those projects.  You would do it the same way you have done with the YRRTC authority.  You would sit down and negotiate a solution to that.  Is that the way it would be done?

MR. WASIK:  So we would review and try to put in place what we feel is the fair apportionment of costs for such particular projects, and we are guided by the Public Service Works on Highway Act to provide us direction.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Just a final question on that.  Is there any experience to be gained by your negotiations with them in this one that you will be able to utilize when you -- if you have to go forward with these?  Have you learned things about how you do these projects and how you might do them with other authorities, if requested?

MR. WASIK:  I think I provided a response to Mr. Grice about that, that, you know, we are mindful of the fact that more assessments need to be done before we begin the construction of those particular works, and that we think that that is very valuable, in terms of seeing the entire complexity and the scope of initiative and trying to have a very true and reflective view of what needs to be done.

MR. GARNER:  I am being more specific on the issue about the fair apportionment of the contribution and whether there are lessons or things you have learned doing this about how that would be done in the future and whether, in your mind, there is any variability in that component.

So what I am asking really is if you go forward and learning what you have done with this authority dealing with other authorities, that might affect how your contribution is calculated, or is it so standard that there is nothing you can do about it?  That is sort of what I am asking.

MR. WASIK:  Well, Mr. Garner, unfortunately these transportation projects aren't standard.  Each particular municipality, each particular location, there's so many different variables.

Hamilton is one of the oldest cities in Canada.  The underground infrastructure in that area is significantly different with a newer municipality like Mississauga.

So there really isn't a standard cookie-cutter approach we would take to all of this and say here is how it is.  Each project would have to be looked at separately.  We would have to review and understand the scope of work.

So, yes, there is lessons learned in terms of how we would manage and how we study the projects going in, but that further leads to the fact that we probably want to understand things much better going in.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  But it is probably important to make the distinction, Mr. Garner, that when you took us to last year's application and decision and we were seeking the deferral account, it is slightly an apples-to-oranges comparison because in those cases our bigger issue was because those were through railway corridors the catenary system that we needed to move we were 100 -- we are 100 percent on the hook for.

And that is not guided by -- in those cases we're not guided by the Public Service Works on Highways Act.  The arrangements with CN Rail is we had identified in last year's proceeding those are 100 percent at the cost of the utility.

So we are trying to leverage the learnings from each of these two Y2 H2, projects and we will take them forward.  But as Mr. Wasik has identified, not only is every circumstance different, so is every geography, and so the age of assets, et cetera.

And then in the particular distinction that you took us to, the expectation or the governing legislation that then determines who is on the hook for what dollars also is distinctive.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  That was my final question, but you raised an issue that may be for Mr. Basilio.

Is the purpose of the ICM for this project, is it an issue with Alectra to finance this type of project?  Or is it simply an issue of ensuring recovery of the costs of the project?

If you were ensured recovery of the project in another way, is that sufficient?  Are you having trouble financing such a project?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is not a question of trouble.  I think it is appropriate to finance projects as we're making outlays.  And I think ratemaking policy provides for that.

I mean, whether you are a regulated utility or not, that is the approach you are going to take, and I think that is the one that makes sense.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you, panel.  Thank you, Board.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  Staff has no questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  To my fine panellists, well, you thought you were done, but you're not.  Just a few questions from me, and it thankfully goes back to a little bit of what Mr. Garner was covering.

In your evidence, I noted that you said the YRRT is about a rapid transit network, including bus rapid transit and subway extensions.  Are there any subway extensions as part of the Y2 and H2 projects for 2019?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  And where my question is going was: Does the Public Service Works on Highways Act apply to subway extensions?

MR. WASIK:  Not unless there is a change to the construction of the roadway.

But if I could take your attention over to our response to BOMA 19, there is a map that we provided that has both the GO and the subway expansions incorporated into it, because the overall transportation plan leverages the networks of those particular various different transportation mediums.

So in the overall plan, yes.  There is interactions and inter-planning with respect to both timing and, you know, the various different trains or subways that are connected to this entire network.

MS. ANDERSON:  So if the act -- I will just call it the act -- doesn't apply, then if you are actually moving plant due to subway, do you get contributed capital for that?  Is that something that has been negotiated?

MR. WASIK:  That has not been something that we have had to do, so I can't comment on that one.

MS. ANDERSON:  I see.  So you haven't had to do it.

MR. WASIK:  We haven't had to do it, so I can't comment on that.  But if we were asked, we would look at that just like we would do with any transportation project as to what is applicable and not applicable.

MS. ANDERSON:  It could be an issue with ones in the future, but it's not applicable to the ones right now.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. BASILIO:  If I could add, we would definitely ask for a contribution.

MS. ANDERSON:  The other question -- you talked about negotiating on a case-by-case basis for the scope of work for incremental funding.

Are there any circumstances in which you are not getting at least the amount related -- you have negotiated an amount lower than what the minimum is in the Public Service Works on Highways Act?

MR. WASIK:  There hasn't been -- for the Y2 and H2 project, there hasn't been a situation where it is lower than fifty percent of the labour.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  Is York Region or the YRRTC a shareholder of Alectra?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  Actually, so my questions were fairly easy.

So going back to the undertaking you just did on the true-up, which I believe was 1.5?  1.6?  Did I miss it?

Anyway, the undertaking that you were going to do on the -- if there's anything in your evidence about the true-up, I guess one of my questions would be are you seeking relief sought on the true-up mechanism, or are you leaving that to the panel at the time of rebasing?

Obviously, you can consider that, but I think that is an important issue for the Panel.

MR. SMITH:  We are not asking for any relief in relation to a future true-up application.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So it would be at the time of rebasing.

MR. SMITH:  The Board Panel will make its decision on the appropriateness of the true-up at that time.  And you were right, it is 1.5.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Any re-examination?

MR. SMITH:  There is no re-examination, no.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. ANDERSON:  Well, then I think that closes us -- oh, sorry, it does not close us because we still have the issue of the undertaking related to the purchase orders.

We were going to circle back and see are you still -- is this still something you were looking for?  Did the questions, the responses answer your questions?  Do we need them to look at what they could provide?

MR. GARNER:  What I was seeking -- and I am still not clear whether in fact it exists in the purchase order -- what I was seeking was the negotiated price for the contribution.

And as I understood it, the way that was occurring was it was occurring in each segment's, let's call it, purchase order.  And that would give you sort of how they negotiated it now and back in 2017, and it would give it to you now and one could then compare those two things and see how the contributions were adjusted or not adjusted, maybe more to the point, based on the changing scope of the work that was done by -- needed to be done by Alectra.

MS. ANDERSON:  So it sounded to me -- we will have the panel answer -- that most of the work falls under sort of the default under the Public Service Works on Highways Act, the 50 percent.  Is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I think it is important just so you understand -- and maybe the panel will correct me if I am wrong -- but as I understand the act, labour is shared 50-50.  Everything that is not labour is Alectra's responsibility.

So if a project is a million bucks and, to use Mr. Wasik's example that he gave in the evidence, and $600,000 of that is labour, you would have 30 percent and the balance would be Alectra's costs, which would be $300,000 of labour and $400,000 of materials, say.

I understand what Mr. Garner's question to be -- maybe just to put it to the panel -- is what he is interested in seeing is where do we see the contribution being reflected in whatever document, be it a purchase order or an invoice.  So where do we see that number being reflected in some documentation.

Have I got that right?

MR. GARNER:  Well, I am not sure -- I would like to hear from Mr. Wasik whether, first of all, your interpretation of exactly that is how the agreement works, that materials are a hundred percent attributable to Alectra, but all labour, installation of all materials is shared 50-50.  Is that the way it works?

MR. WASIK:  With one additional point in the sense that if there is incremental or some specific piece of infrastructure that they want us to install that, then we would ask them to pay the incremental costs associated with that.

MR. GARNER:  So to give an example -- sorry, just to make sure I am clear.  So to give an example of that is when you said you had to go underground where you were above, there is an incremental costs for moving your above ground down below ground, right?  Was that meant that that hundred percent of all of the material costs related to moving underground therefore would get covered?

MR. WASIK:  In typical terms, yes.  So what would happen is that we would acknowledge what the cost of relocating overhead to overhead is, and we would understand the incremental cost of relocating if in fact we were requested to go underground.  That would be how we would apportion it, based on the difference.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, my colleagues are asking me --I'm sorry.  My colleagues are asking to confer.  Can I have a moment, please?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

[Mr. Garner and intervenors confer.]


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes?

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, thank you for that.  What we were discussing is whether in fact the more practical and easier method for us to deal with this would be for you, where you had the cost overruns, to be able to produce those purchase orders to provide us where those changes occurred and what the contribution was, before and after.

So what we're trying to understand is where you were asked to change and you have had many places where you talk about scope changes.  And what we're trying to get clear in our minds is that when a scope change was requested, there was an appropriate apportionment of the costs of the scope change to the utility vis-à-vis to the YRRTC, much like a contract, right, when you have a change order there is a cost to it and those change orders cost money.

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  After I conferred with my colleagues, can I clarify, are you asking by way of example?  Or are we back to where this question had started, which was -- and I think Mr. Smith was trying to seek clarification on whether this was back to 2016, '15, et cetera?

MR. GARNER:  It is only to 2017.  The green line, so to speak, starts with your last proposal that the Board's approved at 11-some-odd, 2.2 million.  Then we are looking at now all of those orders, such as they were, were delayed for timing, scope, et cetera, a number of them were, not all of them.  Some of them were presumably completed.  And those orders were, therefore, changed, and those are the ones that we are interested in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I might comment, Madam Chair?

Last year -- in last year's proceeding there was a number of 69 million which was going to be spent on this project.  That was the expectation.  And 55 percent of it was going to be contributions.  This year the number is 81 million, and the difference, that increase, the contributions are only 40 percent.

What we would certainly like to see is the purchase orders from then until now that show that 40 percent relative to the previous 55 percent.

The question the Board has to ask is:  Why did the contributions go down on the cost overruns?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  The difference in the contributions is actually 3 percent.  55 percent versus 52 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not correct.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Sorry.  You had -- your costs went up by 11.7 million in the last year and your contributions went up by $4.7 million.  I get 40 percent.

MR. SMITH:  We're just speaking apples to oranges.

The total percentage of the total contribution has gone from 55 to 52 percent.  You are observing that on the difference between 69 and 80, the share of that $11 million is lower than -- is roughly 40 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MR. SMITH:  That's the proposition here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The cost overrun of $6.9 million net is 11.7 gross.  And that 11.7 gross you are only getting 40 percent contributions.  And that is what the purchase orders will show.  Why is that?

MR. WASIK:  So once again, when we look at this we're not just looking at what the difference of that $6.9 million is.  We are looking at what's actually transpired for the first two years and what we are forecasting now.

So when you look at the four years' worth of the project, what we're proposing is that the 55 percent capital contribution, when recalculated and using actuals relative to a forecast, is now at 53 percent.

So it's not -- we're not -- we don't just look at it in terms of there's an $11.7 million increase in the cost.  There is a 6.9 percent increase to the net and the difference is that the capital contributions has changed.

We look at it in the sense of, for the whole four years of the project, the new revised forecast is 80.7, which includes two years of actuals and two years of forecast.

And then our two years of actuals and two years of forecast identifies that the capital contributions is slightly lower, 2 percent lower, than the previous forecast.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I think I understand what you are saying.  But my point was, irrespective, it still went in the wrong direction, and B, this was the thing I am trying to understand and explore, is that if you are being requested to make changes to the scope and timing when you have already negotiated, it seems to me that you have a, let's call it upper hand, and you wouldn't at least see anything move in the counter-direction.  You would see it move -- maybe move not at all, but move in a positive direction from the sense of ratepayers.  That is what I am trying to grapple with.

MR. WASIK:  So the increase in costs isn't just because we were asked to do more work.  The increase in costs is because there is other elements of doing the work that we, unfortunately, had higher costs.  So we talked about the fact that we had to trench lower than what our standard was.

So if our initial estimate was that we would trench at one metre but when we got there we realized that one metre wasn't possible, we had to dig deeper, five metres, those are our costs that we have increased.

So the proportion of those particular costs are shared, but we don't just go back and say, oh, we have to go five metres, we have to go four metres deeper, you should pay for that entire difference.  We still use the cost-sharing arrangement.

And so there are additional costs that we also had.  For example, we also, when doing this project, were also doing this work during the wintertime.  Our forecast assumed that we wouldn't be doing digging in the wintertime, and so there is an additional cost of doing some of the civil work in the wintertime.

So those are costs that actually transpired and caused the projects to go up.  So we wanted just to clarify that, that there are costs, and those cost increases were shared, and the 40 percent reflects that we followed the Public Service Works on Highway Act.

MR. GARNER:  So that actually brings us back down to the purchase orders, because it seems to me that in your response to the Board Staff's question -- 60, I think it is, yes, PRZ-Staff-60 -- you specifically talk about projects, the reason for 6.9 million increases in project stage sequencing, and in scope changes.

And I guess what I am hearing from you is, you are using the term "scope changes" perhaps differently than I use the term "scope changes."  A scope change is when someone says to you, build me two miles, not one mile, you know.  They give you a different exercise.

Now, you are using it in the sense that we had to build it and we thought we would build it a foot underground.  We put it five feet underground, it cost us more money, which isn't particularly in my mind anyway a scope change.  It is an on-the-job, you know, overrun.  That is the way I would describe it.

But irrespective of how either of us would describe it, it seems to me that the purchase order is demonstrative of who is asking whom what.  Are they asking you or are you telling them?

So the purchase order changes, it seems to me, is where one communicates that, where they communicate to you saying:  We would like you to change this timing to this timing.  We would like you to dig this hole deeper than that hole, so to speak.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BASILIO:  We don't know what the effort is to provide that amount -- I don't know what volume of paper that is at this point, but I suspect it is quite a paper trail, and it is going to take a long -- like, it's not going to happen overnight.

And whether it is one week or two weeks of effort, you know, we don't know.  But, you know, to summarize, the sharing is largely driven by statute that we have reviewed.

To the extent that there's a scope change and the nature of that scope change is something that we would share under the act, then we're going to follow those rules.

To the extent that the scope change is based on an example Mr. Wasik offered earlier, we would normally build overhead, but they've specifically asked underground, then we would bill them for the full difference of what it would take of the -- of what we would be entitled to for the overhead installation versus the underground installation.

And I think generally speaking we wouldn't build anything that we weren't being requested to build here, that wouldn't fit into the nature of delivering the broader project.

So respectfully, we could go through and pull all of these POs and whatnot, but I don't think it is going to accomplish anything.

I don't think there is going to be any incremental benefit in providing all of that, Madam Chair.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  What I would suggest -- Madam Chair, I don't want to belabour this because it is in your hands, and I think you understand what we're looking at.

It seems to me that if there is a voluminous amount of paper, we could at least understand how voluminous that is.

I was thinking it was less so and that the utility had, in a sense, you know, larger agreements with the party in order to manage this project.  One would expect that there would be paperwork that manages a project for overrun and scope -- real scope changes.

So I am left in your hands as to whether you find --


MS. ANDERSON:  Is there an agreement related to the cost sharing?  Or did we cover that already?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we did, but we are not aware of any further agreement other than we're governed by the act.

MS. ANDERSON:  So that when you enter into the sharing arrangement, it shows up just in that procedural -- in that PO, purchase order?

MR. WASIK:  It would be under the invoice.

MS. ANDERSON:  In an invoice?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, could I make a different suggestion to get at this in a different way?

Could the undertaking be to provide a list of cost increases, overruns if you like or any cost increase, in which the sharing -- the contribution from the road authority was different from the original 55 percent, or different from the originally agreed?

So, for example, if the YRRTC said, well, you had a cost overrun on that part but you told us what the estimate is, and we're not going to contribute to your overrun; that is your problem.  Or we're only going to contribute this much, not the previously-agreed amount because of whatever reason.

We could probably get a list of that and that would tell us a whole lot about this cost overrun.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, there is a problem with that which -- subject to the panel advising me that I have misunderstood the evidence.  But I don't think Mr. Shepherd's request is consistent with the evidence, because what he is suggesting is that there was an overall agreement at, say, 55 percent, and if there was a particular area that, for whatever reason, ran over cost, that you would see a different sharing at some number other than 55 percent.

As I understand the evidence, that is not what is happening.  So you are not -- the cost -- the cost may be different.  So let's say an item costs $2 million instead of one and a half million dollars; that is a $500,000 difference.  But you are not seeing a negotiation that reflects a different sharing of that portion of the cost.

There is no -- if what is being asked for is different in terms of undergrounding to -- sorry, from overhead to underground, then you would have a different than the PSWHA sharing and that would be reflected on the invoice.

But what Mr. Shepherd is talking about, I think, is something that you actually don't see.  It is not visible.

So I am hesitant to give it, because I don't think we can do it.

MR. BASILIO:  Just again, maybe by way of indirect evidence, in a typical road widening, 60 percent is labour, and the other 40 percent is materials.  We would expect to recover 50 percent of the labour.

So if a job costs $100, 30 percent would be capital contribution.  We're recovering 52 percent, that is our forecast, in capital contributions.

Now, is this a typical road widening project?  No.  We're recovering -- I mean, there's so many indirect means here of, you know, identifying that we are certainly recovering for work that is out of scope and that we would typically not provide or contribute to in this sort of project.

Even on the incremental amount, I think, Mr. Shepherd, you offered 40 percent, you know, that on the incremental amount, it is 40 percent.  We with typically expect to recover 30 percent on a road widening project.

I don't know that that helps or not, but...

MS. ANDERSON:  What I am wondering is -- we're back here tomorrow, and I think I have raised this before.  Would the benefit of overnight allow you to come back with a proposal of kind of how we get to -- I think what they're getting to is when, with the amount that is, whether we call it an overrun or whatever, what the sharing arrangement is with those.

Or at the very least, it would be helpful to know how many purchase orders are we talking about here?  Is that possible?

What is the length of a purchase order?  Are they a hundred pages?  Because if we're looking at a hundred documents at a hundred pages, I think we are a little loath to have that volume on the record.  I don't think anyone wants to go through that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a big room.

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I think we can undertake to look and advise...

MS. ANDERSON:  Advise in the morning?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  To the extent that we have better information, more information, any information tomorrow morning, we're happy to offer that update tomorrow morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are also mindful that you may be taking the opportunity to settle on something in the remainder of today.  And if there is an opportunity to come up with something that works for everyone, that would even be better, if that is at all possible.

Mr. Smith, did we finish with you on re-examination?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Any other matters before we close?  Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  I believe Mr. Smith had another matter he wanted to raise with the Board.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, yes, thank you.  Thank you for doing my job. There is an outstanding item relating to 2019 rates.

We are -- a question has been asked by Staff about whether or not, if a Board decision in relation to those items where argument is already in was received by the 20th or thereabouts, would it be possible to implement rates January 1.

It would not be, unfortunately.  We would be asking in those circumstances for a foregone revenue rider -- not to presume the outcome, but a foregone revenue rider for January.

If the decision is received at any point in 2018, we can implement for February 1.

MS. DUFF:  January is off the table already.

MR. SMITH:  January is off the table already, unfortunately; that's my understanding.

MS. ANDERSON:  Even at the risk of a decision not allowing foregone revenue?  You are saying you can't possibly implement rates if a decision on base rates went out some time earlier than December 20th?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  We checked with our customer service and IT teams.  I think it is important to remind the Board we just went through the third stage of our CIS implementation.

We are in a blackout period now, so we're trying to -- and when I say we just went live, I mean this weekend, this past weekend.

So we don't want to incur problems with the CIS system for which we need to make the -- in which we need to make the changes to the rates.  We can implement for February 1st, but the CIS project, as the Board may recall and intervenors recall, was part of the MAADs -- one of the major projects that we had identified in the MAADs proceeding as a huge and first, frankly the primary implementation project as we came together.

So in checking with our customer service team in fact yesterday, we are already in that blackout period.

Even when we get the decision, we have to roll through and create the draft rate order and then get the final rate order back.  It is not immediate, and it takes time then for four rate zones -- we are not one of the four any more.  We're four, and so we have to do this four times over as we have different tariff sheets across each rate zone, notwithstanding that these are IRM, or annual filing in the case of Horizon, adjustments.

MS. DUFF:  So just to ask a question.  Mr. Smith said if a decision is issued in the 2018 calendar year, February 1 is the date, is that a final rate -- a rate order of some sort?

MS. BUTANY-DESOUZA:  I expect that if we had a decision some time, even a draft -- so if we had the decision some time in calendar 2018, we will work through the steps at the tail end of 2018, early -- the very first week of 2019 to do the draft rate order, get the final rate order, and get it into the system with the January 1st implementation date, but effective February 1st with the foregone rider.

We can do all of that, certainly in January by January, test it in January 2019 for the rates going live February 1st, with the foregone rider for the one month.

We hadn't anticipated -- I think you might appreciate we hadn't anticipated having this challenge, given that we filed in June.  But here we are.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think that ends us for today, and we will be back here at 9:30 tomorrow.  You have, I guess, the remainder of the afternoon, if there is -- to come up with a settlement agreement that we will hear.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:05 p.m.
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